

Educator Learning to Enact the Science of Learning and Development

Linda Darling-Hammond, Lisa Flook, Abby Schachner, and Steven Wojcikiewicz in collaboration with Pamela Cantor and David Osher and in association with the SoLD Alliance



Educator Learning to Enact the Science of Learning and Development

Linda Darling-Hammond, Lisa Flook, Abby Schachner, and Steven Wojcikiewicz in collaboration with Pamela Cantor and David Osher and in association with the SoLD Alliance





Acknowledgments

The authors thank LPI colleague Charlie Thompson, who offered able research assistance for this report. The authors also gratefully acknowledge the intellectual contributions of Pamela Cantor and David Osher to the science synthesis on which this work is based, as well as the SoLD Alliance for its partnership and ongoing commitment to translating the science of learning and development into practices and policies that can support equitable school transformation.

In addition, we thank Erin Chase and Aaron Reeves for their editing and design contributions to this project and the entire LPI communications team for its invaluable support in developing and disseminating this report. Without their generosity of time and spirit, this work would not have been possible.

This research was supported by the Chan Zuckerberg Initiative, the S. D. Bechtel, Jr. Foundation, and the Carnegie Corporation. Core operating support for the Learning Policy Institute is provided by the S. D. Bechtel, Jr. Foundation, Heising-Simons Foundation, William and Flora Hewlett Foundation, Raikes Foundation, and Sandler Foundation. We are grateful to them for their generous support. The ideas voiced here are those of the authors and not those of our funders.

External Reviewers

This report benefited from the insights and expertise of two external reviewers: A. Lin Goodwin, Dean and Professor of Education, Faculty of Education, University of Hong Kong; and Mistilina Sato, Associate Professor, School of Teacher Education, University of Canterbury. We thank them for the care and attention they gave the report.

The appropriate citation for this report is: Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Schachner, A., & Wojcikiewicz, S. (with Cantor, P., & Osher, D.). (2022). *Educator learning to enact the science of learning and development*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/859.776.

This report can be found online at https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/educator-learning-sold.

This work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License. To view a copy of this license, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/.



Document last revised April 7, 2023

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	v
Introduction	1
Foundations for Educator Preparation	3
What Do Educators Need to Know and Be Able to Do?	8
Teacher Knowledge That Supports Student Learning and Development	8
Skills Teachers Need to Enhance Learning and Development	14
Dispositions	16
Additional Knowledge for School Leaders	19
How Educators Can Develop the Necessary Knowledge, Skills, and Dispositions	22
Challenges of Learning to Teach for Deeper Learning and Equity	22
Designing Learning Experiences for Adults	23
Key Strategies and Practices for Educator Preparation	25
Key Strategies for Educator Preparation Program Design	25
Key Practices for Educator Preparation	28
Creating Systems That Support Educator Learning	38
Professional Development Supporting Educators' Practice	38
Systemic Support for Learning	39
Districtwide Support for Professional Learning	43
Summary and Conclusion	45
Endnotes	46
About the Authors	57

List of Figures

Figure 1	Guiding Principles of Equitable Whole Child Design	5
Figure 2	Framework for Teacher Education	9
Figure 3	Knowledge, Skills, and Dispositions for Teaching: The "What" of Teacher Education	10
Figure 4	The "How" of Teacher Education	28

Executive Summary

Research advances in neuroscience and the developmental and learning sciences have provided us with important insights about how people learn and develop. The knowledge we now have points to important transformations in teaching practice, which in turn require transformations in educator development needed to support all educators in developing the knowledge, skills, and dispositions associated with developing the whole child. This report synthesizes research on how to support educators in developing those capacities both in preservice and in-service contexts. We take up both the "what" of teacher and leader preparation—the content educators need to learn about children and how to support their development and learning—and the "how"—the strategies for educator learning that can produce deep understanding; useful skills; and the capacity to reflect, learn, and continue to improve.

Foundations for Educator Preparation

Syntheses of advances from the science, linked to educational research, have identified implications for practice of the science of learning and development and a set of design principles for schools for putting the science of learning and development into action. These syntheses point to the following principles as a foundation for educators' knowledge base:

- The brain and development are malleable across the entire life span in response to relationships, experiences, and contexts.
- Variability in human development is the norm, not the exception.
- Human relationships catalyze healthy development and learning.
- Learning is social, emotional, and cognitive.
- People actively construct knowledge based on their experiences in social and cultural contexts.
- Adversity affects learning—and the way schools respond matters.

Developing the kinds of skills currently required in a fast-changing knowledge-based society requires a different kind of teaching and learning from prior eras of education when learning was conceptualized as the acquisition of facts and teaching as the transmission of information to be taken in and used "as is." This means students need opportunities to set goals and assess their own work and that of their peers so that they become increasingly self-aware, confident, and independent learners. To become productive citizens within and beyond the school, students also need positive mindsets about self and school, along with social awareness and responsibility.

The ability of schools to help achieve these outcomes requires environments, structures, and practices attuned to students' learning and developmental needs. These include:

- positive developmental relationships;
- environments filled with safety and belonging;
- rich learning experiences that support deep knowledge development;
- development of social, emotional, and cognitive skills, habits, and mindsets; and
- integrated support systems.

What Do Educators Need to Know and Be Able to Do?

The National Academy of Sciences frameworks from two volumes on *How People Learn* suggest that common practices of effective teaching draw on several areas of knowledge:

- how students learn and develop within social contexts, including how cultural, social, emotional, and physiological experiences influence learning;
- how subject matter and curriculum goals can be taught in light of the social purposes of education; and
- how teaching can be structured in light of the content and learners to be taught, as informed by assessment and supported by a productive classroom environment that fosters the sense of belonging, agency, and purpose that supports motivation.

These areas of knowledge must be joined with skills of curriculum design and instruction, inquiry, reflection, and diagnosis to produce the adaptive expertise that enables teachers to make the connections between children and content that are necessary for learning. And these skills must be further joined to dispositions and attitudes that support empathy, social-emotional capacity, cultural competence, and a commitment to equity in support of each child's well-being. School leaders need additional knowledge and skills to create the environments in which children and educators can thrive. These include an understanding of the pedagogical practices that support deep learning for children and adults; knowledge and skills for instructional leadership; and collective leadership practices that support collaborative buy-in from teachers, families, and others.

How Educators Can Develop the Necessary Knowledge, Skills, and Dispositions

Just as the call to utilize the science of learning and development to shape schoolwide practice places significant new demands upon educators and schools, so too does the need for educators to learn how to implement such practices place significant new demands upon educator preparation and professional development.

Designing learning experiences for adults

In order to design learning opportunities that are effective and useful for educators, an understanding of adult learning theory is essential. Adults bring with them substantial prior knowledge and interpreted experience, and they may have fixed ideas or preconceptions that influence their receptivity to new information. Theoretical frameworks in adult learning emphasize that learning should be related to adult learners' prior experiences and professional purposes, ensure real-world applications, and allow learners to understand and experience the perspectives of others, so they can transform their own preconceptions into more responsive practices.

Key Strategies and Practices for Educator Preparation

Challenges of learning to teach for deeper learning and equity

The design of effective preparation programs must contend with at least three well-known challenges of learning to teach:

- The problem of the "apprenticeship of observation"—learning to teach requires a reframing of educators' own previous experience as students in order to think about and understand teaching in new ways.
- The problem of enactment—teachers need not only to learn, but to learn to *do*.
- The problem of complexity—learning to teach requires that new teachers act purposefully to achieve multiple goals within a complex and busy classroom full of students who each bring their own knowledge, ideas, and social and cultural experiences with them.

These problems, along with the necessity of attending to the needs of adult learners, create parameters for prospective teachers' learning that should guide the design of effective programs.

Key strategies for educator preparation program design

Program design should center around a coherent vision of whole child development, learning, and teaching that includes:

- pedagogical alignment around a coherent vision of whole child development, learning, and teaching that enables new teachers and school leaders to experience the very kinds of teaching strategies they are expected to develop for the pupils they work with;
- well-designed clinical experiences tightly linked to coursework that, together, integrate theory and practice to instantiate the developmental principles educators need to learn; and
- a developmental approach to the development of educators (just as educators use with their students) that occurs experientially in contexts that consciously support educators to go through the stages that eventually allow them to become increasingly expert.

Key practices for educator preparation

These overarching strategies support a set of educator preparation practices that research has shown make a strong difference in the capacities of educators. These key practices for educator preparation include:

- anchoring candidate learning in the study of human development and learning—in all its diversity—as the foundation and guide for the use of all other knowledge about teaching;
- integrating theory and practice through clinical experiences and coursework that allow teachers to learn and practice ever more sophisticated applications of knowledge and skill to reach greater mastery;
- providing opportunities for authentic practice, assessment, feedback, and reflection to accelerate learning;
- engaging in inquiry and analysis strategies that guide reflection and application, preparing candidates to ask productive questions when they encounter novel teaching challenges in different schools and community contexts and to employ such strategies with their own students; and
- collaborating in professional learning communities that provide mutual support, opportunities to learn from others' perspectives and expertise, and modeling for leading a collaborative classroom.

Creating Systems That Support Educator Learning

Since children are not standardized and problems of practice are never routine, educators also need opportunities to continue to learn once they leave initial preparation. Effective professional development models that support educators' practice share several features. These approaches:

- are content focused,
- incorporate active learning,
- support collaboration and space for teachers to learn together,
- use modeling of effective practice,
- provide coaching and expert support,
- offer opportunities for feedback and reflection, and
- are sustained over time.

Professional learning is most effective when it is part of a sustained approach at the school, district, and network levels that creates opportunities for learning, dialogue, and the development of shared practices at all levels of the system and among all of the members of the school community. An example of a successful schoolwide approach is the School Development Program, which teaches all members of the school community to use the principles of child and adolescent development to create a positive environment for children's development along all of the developmental pathways—physical, social and emotional, linguistic, and cognitive.

Some schoolwide approaches, like the School Development Program, EL Education, and Institute for Student Achievement, have evolved into networks of schools that have been developed around practices grounded in the science of learning and development. These networks hold promise as a catalyst for developing educator capacity to address complex educational problems. Districtwide approaches that iterate on learning opportunities to deepen teachers and principals' understanding, as well as district-level supervision and supports, are also important for sustained and successful transformations in pedagogy and school practice.

Conclusion

Concentrated efforts will be needed to create professional learning opportunities that can help educators develop the kinds of knowledge, skills, and dispositions needed to enable educators to use the insights from the science of learning and development to support their students through safe communities and secure relationships; integrated social, emotional, and academic supports; and the kinds of teaching that enable children ultimately to guide their own learning.

These efforts will be most successful if they offer pedagogical alignment that allows educators to experience the same kinds of learning they will use with students and if they engage educators in sustained, collegial efforts to practice new skills and strategies, while parallel learning and redesign occurs in districts' central systems.

Introduction

Over the last several decades, we have learned a great deal about how people learn and develop from research in neuroscience; the developmental and learning sciences; and fields like anthropology, sociology, and social psychology. Recent syntheses of this research and its implications for educational practice, published in a series of articles in *Applied Developmental Science*,¹ have pointed to important transformations in teaching practice needed to ensure that children experience the secure relationships, skillful teaching, and personalized supports that will enable healthy development and successful lives, including for those who have experienced adverse conditions.

The knowledge that we now have causes us to affirm many principles of developmentally appropriate practice that were uncovered more than a century ago, while simultaneously requiring us to challenge assumptions that drove the design of 20th-century education. These assumptions still live at the core of instructional practice, school organization, and policies governing everything from testing and the allocation of curriculum to school discipline. This knowledge unseats old assumptions that intelligence is genetically determined and fixed at birth, that school opportunities are appropriately allocated based on tests that rank children in terms of their different potential, that learning follows a uniform trajectory and is best accomplished by memorizing ordered information, and that punishment effectively guides behavior.

This knowledge unseats old assumptions that intelligence is genetically determined and fixed at birth, that school opportunities are appropriately allocated based on tests that rank children in terms of their different potential, that learning follows a uniform trajectory and is best accomplished by memorizing ordered information, and that punishment effectively guides behavior.

The needed transformations—from assembly line school designs, standardized teaching practices, norm-referenced testing, and exclusionary discipline to supportive communities that enable personalized attention to the development of human potential—create a tall order for educators. To accomplish this goal, educators need not only deep knowledge of how children develop and learn, but also the skills to transform that knowledge into supportive schoolwide practices in organizations that were not typically designed to develop children holistically or to build on their cultural experiences and prior knowledge to create success for each of them.

To be sure, there are exceptional schools that accomplish these goals, and there are exceptional preparation programs that support both teachers and school leaders in this work.² They are not the norm, however, for a range of reasons. These include a failure to organize the knowledge base in a manner that can be readily accessed and deeply understood by practitioners and their preparers; a failure to challenge policies and practices in both schools and the broader society that inequitably allocate opportunities to learn, largely on the basis of race and class; and a failure to undertake the steps needed to fully professionalize teaching so that all educators enter with the knowledge, skills, and dispositions needed to support the learning and development of all children. This would require

updated standards that are enacted through purposeful accreditation of programs and licensing expectations that are not waived in order to fill vacancies while keeping salaries low, especially in the under-resourced schools that serve students of color and those from low-income families.³

To take advantage of our growing knowledge, we will need comprehensive efforts to support all educators in developing the knowledge, skills, and dispositions needed to develop the whole child—including children's social, emotional, and cognitive development; their physical and mental health; and their identities, interests, passions, and skills for learning. We will also need a social commitment to provide the resources to enable all educators to gain access to the preparation and ongoing training they need and to enable all children to gain access to these well-prepared educators.

In this report, we take up the question of educator development for enacting the science of learning and development, examining both the "what" of teacher and school leader preparation—the content educators need to learn—and the "how"—the strategies for educator learning that can produce deep understanding; useful skills; and the capacity to reflect, learn, and improve.

Foundations for Educator Preparation

A synthesis of scientific advances linked to educational research⁴ has identified "implications for practice of the science of learning and development"⁵ and a set of "design principles for schools." This work is putting the science of learning and development into action.⁶ The science syntheses point to the following principles that provide a foundation for educators' knowledge base:

- 1. **The brain and development are malleable.** The brain grows and changes throughout life in response to experiences and relationships. The nature of these experiences and relationships matters greatly for development: Optimal brain development is shaped by warm, consistent relationships; empathetic back-and-forth communications; and modeling of productive behaviors. The brain's capacity develops most fully when children and youth feel emotionally and physically safe; when they feel connected, supported, engaged, and challenged; and when they have rich opportunities to learn, with materials and experiences that allow them to inquire into the world around them.
- 2. Variability in human development is the norm, not the exception. The pace and profile of each child's development is unique. The pathways by which children develop their skills and talents are both individual and jagged, characterized by ups and downs instead of lockstep progress. This means that all learning is variable. Because each child's experiences create a unique trajectory for growth, there are multiple pathways—and no one best pathway—to effective learning. Rather than assuming all children will respond to the same teaching approaches equally well, effective teachers personalize supports for different children, and effective schools avoid prescribing learning experiences around a mythical average. When schools try to fit all children to one pace and sequence, they miss the opportunity to reach each child, and they can cause children to adopt counterproductive views about themselves and their own learning potential, which undermines their progress.
- 3. Human relationships catalyze healthy development and learning. Supportive, responsive relationships with caring adults are essential for healthy development and learning. Such relationships can buffer the potentially negative effects of even serious adversity. When adults have the awareness, empathy, and cultural competence to appreciate and understand children's experiences, needs, and communication, they can promote the development of positive behaviors and confidence to support learning.
- 4. Learning is social, emotional, and cognitive. Emotions and social relationships affect learning. Positive relationships, including trust in the teacher, and positive emotions, such as interest and excitement, open the mind to learning. Negative emotions such as fear of failure, anxiety, and self-doubt reduce the capacity of the brain to process information and to learn. Learning is shaped both by intrapersonal awareness, including the ability to manage stress and direct energy in productive ways, and by interpersonal skills, including the ability to interact positively with others, resolve conflicts, and work in teams. These skills can be taught.
- 5. **People actively construct knowledge based on their experiences, relationships, and social contexts.** Children, youth, and adults dynamically shape their own learning. Learners connect new information to what they already know in order to learn. This process works best when students engage in active, hands-on learning and when they

can connect new knowledge to personally relevant topics and lived experiences. Effective teachers draw those connections, create engaging tasks, watch and guide children's efforts, and offer constructive feedback with opportunities to practice and revise work toward growing competence.

6. Adversity affects learning—and the way schools respond matters. Each year in the United States, 46 million children are exposed to violence, crime, abuse, or psychological trauma, as well as homelessness and food insecurity. These adverse childhood experiences can create toxic stress that affects attention, learning, and behavior. Poverty and racism, together and separately, make chronic stress and adversity more likely. In schools where students encounter punitive discipline rather than support for handling adversity, their stress is magnified. Schools can buffer the effects of stress by creating supportive environments that are personally attentive and culturally responsive, facilitating supportive adult–child relationships that extend over time, teaching social-emotional skills, and offering integrated student supports that enable healing and recuperation as they remove obstacles to learning.

These bodies of research tell an optimistic story about each child's potential and the ways in which environments, experiences, and relationships can be organized to support the expression of that potential. Additionally, as the brain becomes increasingly integrated, the developmental process features multiple critical periods, including adolescence, when young people develop new metacognitive capabilities that they can draw upon to better interpret and use new experiences, thus becoming more self-managing in their own learning process.

This capacity for self-regulation and self-direction in learning is critically important today. As outlined in the "Implications for Practice" synthesis,⁷ the kind of learning today's young people need to engage in is grounded in a context in which knowledge is rapidly expanding and technologies are rapidly changing. To manage new knowledge and succeed in the face of these ongoing changes, children need well-developed critical thinking and problem-solving skills; the capacity to find, analyze, synthesize, and apply knowledge to novel situations; interpersonal skills that allow them to work with others and engage effectively in cross-cultural contexts; self-directional abilities that allow them to manage their own work and complex projects; the ability to competently find resources and use tools; and the capacity to communicate effectively in many ways.

Developing these kinds of skills requires a different kind of teaching and learning from prior eras of education when learning was conceptualized as the acquisition of facts and teaching as the transmission of information to be taken in and used "as is." For example, a review of research by the National Research Council indicates that the kind of learning supporting these higher-order thinking and performance skills is best developed through inquiry and investigation, application of knowledge to new situations and problems, production of ideas and solutions, and collaborative problem-solving.⁸ These tasks, in turn, require strong self-regulation, executive functioning, and metacognitive skills; resourcefulness, perseverance, and resilience in the face of obstacles and uncertainty; the ability to learn independently; and curiosity, inventiveness, and creativity. This means students need opportunities to set goals and assess their own work and that of their peers so that they become increasingly self-aware, confident, and independent learners. To become productive citizens within and beyond school, students also need positive mindsets about self and school, along with social awareness and responsibility.⁹

The ability of schools to help achieve these outcomes requires environments, structures, and practices attuned to students' learning and developmental needs,¹⁰ including:

- **positive developmental relationships**, which support children's attachment to caring adults and a supportive peer community, as well as their growth and development;
- **environments filled with safety and belonging**, which are not only physically safe, offering consistent norms and routines, but also emotionally and identity safe, so that all children know they are a valued part of the school community;
- rich learning experiences that support deep knowledge through authentic activities that build on prior knowledge and cultural contexts, enabling children to work collaboratively with peers to develop transferable knowledge and higher-order thinking skills;
- **development of skills, habits, and mindsets** that foster social, emotional, and cognitive capacities in support of personal and interpersonal awareness, empathy, perseverance, and resilience; and
- **integrated support systems** providing readily available academic, health, mental health, and social service supports that remove obstacles to learning and support thriving.



Figure 1 Guiding Principles of Equitable Whole Child Design

Source: Learning Policy Institute & Turnaround for Children. (2021). Design principles for schools: Putting the science of learning and development into action. https://k12.designprinciples.org/.

To accomplish these goals, school staff and leaders need a common knowledge base about child development across all of the domains and about learning in the many ways it unfolds for diverse learners. Teachers, principals, and other school leaders also need a common understanding of the practices that can support optimal learning and development. These understandings include:

- Knowledge of how to design **supportive school organizations** so that these organizations provide for strong, continuous relationships; shared norms and practices rooted in a common understanding of child and adolescent development; equitable access to knowledge, skill development, and engaging learning experiences for children; and strong relationships with families. These features are not easily achieved in the factory-model designs for schools that originated more than a century ago, and they typically require important changes in the "regularities of schooling."¹¹ Thus, educators also need **skills for change management and collaboration** to transform existing contexts.
- Knowledge of productive instructional strategies that enable teachers to support students' motivation, competence, self-efficacy, and self-directed learning.
 Pedagogical content knowledge and skills, combined with knowledge of child development, help teachers create meaningful curriculum that builds on students' prior knowledge and experiences. Such knowledge and skills can also help educators develop rich inquiry tasks that are thoughtfully interwoven with explicit instruction and well-scaffolded opportunities for students to practice and apply their learning, including well-designed collaborative learning opportunities that encourage students to question, explain, and co-construct solutions. These experiences are part of a mastery approach to learning, supported by performance assessments that incorporate opportunities to receive helpful feedback, develop and exhibit competence, and revise work to improve. They also give students opportunities to develop metacognitive skills through planning and management of complex tasks, self- and peer assessment, and reflection on learning.
- Knowledge of practices that enable educators to support students' social, emotional, and cognitive development, along with their academic, moral, and identity development. This knowledge includes an understanding of how to teach social-emotional skills while creating classroom communities and "identity-safe" environments¹² in which children can experience belonging, affirmation, and opportunities to extend their skills at the edges of their zones of proximal development.¹³ Such knowledge must be accompanied by the skills to put developmental knowledge into practice—the capacity to closely observe children, to scaffold and affirm their efforts, to describe and model desired behaviors, and to create productive tasks that move them forward.
- Knowledge and skills for **identifying and addressing individual needs** that are associated with learning barriers, adverse conditions, or trauma. This knowledge includes an understanding of learning differences and disabilities and strategies for addressing these needs, as well as an understanding of how trauma affects student learning and behavior, how to access resources in a multi-tiered system of support, and how to support student resilience. For teachers, this includes **diagnostic skills** to learn what children are experiencing and what they need, and **instructional and interpersonal skills** to address these needs to the extent possible within the classroom and to build seamlessly and with

care and discretion on outside-of-classroom resources that may also be needed. For school leaders, this includes **skills for organizing systems and programmatic supports** that are readily available when needed, without delay or stigmatization of students.¹⁴

In subsequent sections, we outline, first, what teachers need to know and be able to do to support student development and learning, and then what school leaders need to know and be able to do to create environments that allow for and encourage these practices. These capacities include knowledge, skills, and dispositions that can support children and engage their families in thoughtful, culturally competent, and equitable ways. Next, we discuss how educators can develop these capacities in both preservice and in-service learning contexts, with particular attention to the strategies that have been found useful in helping educators develop effective practices that incorporate and enact theoretical understanding. Finally, we discuss what is known about how to create systems that can support this kind of professional learning so that it is regularly and routinely available in high-quality ways.

What Do Educators Need to Know and Be Able to Do?

After publication of the National Academy of Science's report *How People Learn*,¹⁵ the National Academy of Education (NAE) convened a panel of researchers to examine the research on practices teachers can engage in to support effective learning and on strategies that enable teachers to learn these practices. The resulting report, *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*, outlines both the content and processes that should be part of teacher education in order to develop teachers' knowledge, skills, and dispositions to be able to teach diverse students in ways that foster deep learning.¹⁶

Teacher Knowledge That Supports Student Learning and Development

The NAE framework suggests that the common practices of effective teaching draw on three general areas of knowledge that beginning teachers must acquire in order to be successful with their students (Figure 2). We use these areas of knowledge as organizers for this section:

- Knowledge of learners and how they learn and develop within social contexts
- An understanding of the **subject matter and curriculum** to be taught in light of the social purposes of education
- An understanding of **teaching** in light of the content and learners to be taught, as informed by assessment and supported by a productive classroom environment

At the center of the conceptual framework in Figure 2 is a vision for practice that integrates knowledge about learners, curriculum, and teaching. The development of a vision for teaching relies on the fusion between coursework and clinical work—theory and practice—that enables teacher candidates to develop initial knowledge and skills in a meaningful way.

Two decades after it released *How People Learn*, the National Academy of Sciences released *How People Learn II*,¹⁷ summarizing new insights into learning and development. These do not change this central conception of teaching knowledge, but they emphasize much more clearly the influences of sociocultural and motivational factors on learning. The report explains how learning is influenced by cultural, social, emotional, and physiological experiences and how motivation is fostered when all learners perceive the learning environment as a place where they belong and where their sense of agency and purpose is promoted:

Effective instruction depends on an understanding of the complex interplay among learners' prior knowledge, experiences, motivations, interests, and language and cognitive skills; educators' own experiences and cultural influences; and the cultural, social, cognitive, and emotional characteristics of the learning environment.¹⁸



Source: Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do. John Wiley & Sons.

Shaping these contextual factors productively is a critical goal for educator preparation. The areas of knowledge described above must be joined with skills of curriculum design and instruction, inquiry, reflection, and diagnosis to produce the adaptive expertise that enables teachers to make the connections between children and content that are necessary for learning. And these skills must be further joined to dispositions and attitudes that support empathy, social-emotional capacity, cultural competence, and a commitment to equity in support of each child's well-being. (See Figure 3.)



Finally, while school leaders should be prepared with this same foundational grounding, there are additional capacities they need in order to create the environments in which children and educators can thrive. These include understanding how to design schools for strong relationships between and among students, educators, and families while supporting staff in infusing this knowledge into all aspects of teaching, grading, and assessment as well as into school norms and routines (including student discipline policies), student support systems, and parent involvement. A major part of the leader's repertoire is supporting ongoing inquiry and collaboration to understand children's needs and to support their welfare.

Knowledge about learners and their development in social contexts

Learning and development affect each other, and both are deeply embedded in sociocultural contexts. This means that teachers must understand and appreciate children's different experiences. In order to teach students who learn in different ways and whose prior knowledge reflects diverse cultural and linguistic traditions and experiences, teachers must understand development and the learning process deeply. The fundamental concepts that educators must understand regarding learning and development are summarized below.¹⁹

Learning. Understanding the **learning process** is fundamental to expert teaching. Children's prior knowledge and experiences, their cognitive strategies, and their motivation all affect their process of learning.²⁰ Thus, teachers need to know how to surface and build on those prior experiences, understand how children are thinking, and know how to construct tasks that are motivating. Using a "funds of knowledge" framework, educators can learn how to link unique experiences and skills from children's everyday life and culture to classroom instruction.²¹ This practice can captivate children's interest and foster deeper learning.²²

It is also helpful for teachers to understand how children coordinate and regulate many different **cognitive processes**, including memory and attention, as they are learning. They need to help children integrate new information with what they already know by developing mental models of how things work and how ideas connect. By understanding how cognitive processes operate, teachers can enable greater learning, including higher-order thinking and problem-solving, by reducing unnecessary cognitive load and by scaffolding learning in deliberate ways.

Knowing that the opportunity to make choices about the learning process supports students' **motivation**, develops their sense of agency, and ultimately affects their learning,²³ teachers can also learn to integrate the appropriate amount and kind of choice into their assignments for students. They can also learn how to construct tasks that are intrinsically motivating because they connect to students' interests, offer access to different learners and scaffolds for progress, and communicate expectancies of success.

Development. Understanding **developmental pathways and progressions** is crucial for understanding and designing effective learning environments that are optimal for each child. In addition to understanding the areas of development—social, emotional, cognitive, academic, physical, and psychological—and their interactions, teachers must understand that children develop in different domains at different times and rates. Identifying the zone of proximal development²⁴ for each learner in each domain is a starting point for instruction, enabling the teacher to build on what a specific child already knows in providing supports for what they are ready to learn.

Teachers need to understand and know how to support the development and **integration of social and emotional learning** with cognitive development and academic learning. Although children do not have the same starting points and do not follow identical pathways, they can all find success if educators are grounded in an understanding of how to develop foundational skills and mindsets, such as self-regulation, executive function, a sense of efficacy, and a growth mindset.²⁵ Skilled teachers also intentionally support the development of social skills, such as cooperation and communication, and emotional skills, including empathy and emotional recognition and regulation, by modeling these skills, providing explicit instruction on them, and infusing opportunities to practice throughout the day.²⁶

Children's development depends significantly on supportive conditions, including positive relationships; physical, emotional, and identity safety; and a sense of belonging and purpose.²⁷ Educators can support these needs by creating school and classroom environments that explicitly recognize the value of each child and develop a mutually caring community. This includes addressing social identity threats that exist in the society at large and that can permeate schools as well. Students who have received societal or schooldelivered messages that they are less capable or less worthy as a function of race, ethnicity, language background, gender, sexual orientation, economic status, disability, or other traits will often translate those views into self-perceptions of ability.

Students who have received societal or school-delivered messages that they are less capable or less worthy as a function of race, ethnicity, language background, gender, sexual orientation, economic status, disability, or other traits will often translate those views into self-perceptions of ability.

Social identity threat can come from other students in the form of ostracism or bullying or from adults who communicate low expectations or negative views. This threat induces stress that triggers reduction in working memory and focus, leading to impaired performance.²⁸ Teachers need to understand how their attitudes toward students can shape their expectations and interactions with students and can support or undermine students' conditions for learning.²⁹ Unfortunately, there is evidence that many educators have more negative perceptions and lower expectations of Black and Latino/a students' academic ability and behavior, interacting with them less positively than with White students, which can trigger social identity threat and hinder learning.³⁰ Teachers can counteract social identity threat by affirming and conveying confidence in their students, ³¹ setting high expectations and assuring students that they can reach those expectations, and linking their funds of knowledge with classroom instruction and content.

Language. Language is the medium of instruction, and teachers need to know how to help students develop language skills of reading, writing, listening, and speaking for academic purposes. This includes the **academic language** they need to do work in school (e.g., discipline-specific vocabulary and concepts) and the ways that language is used—for example, in textbooks, essays, lab reports, or classroom discussions. It also includes the development of **reading skills and language proficiency** for those whose first language is English and those for whom it is not.³² Given evidence that bilingualism benefits cognitive development and reading proficiency, this also includes preservation and use of the native language to the extent possible.³³

Knowledge of subject matter and curriculum goals

Understandings of development and learning provide the foundation on which teachers learn to build successful curriculum to guide the learning process. To this foundation they add their understanding of content: Teaching in ways that enable students to learn and apply knowledge requires that teachers have a deep and flexible knowledge of subject matter so that they can represent ideas in powerful ways that connect to students' experiences, can organize a productive learning process for students who start with different levels and kinds of prior knowledge, can assess how and what students are learning, and can adapt instruction to different learning approaches.³⁴

Knowledge of content combines with knowledge about learning and learners to create **pedagogical content knowledge**,³⁵ which is the foundation for teaching subject matter deeply so that students can transfer and use their knowledge.³⁶ This knowledge, which is unique to each subject area, enables teachers to integrate core concepts from the disciplines with the modes of inquiry specific to the discipline—such as scientific investigation, mathematical modeling, literary analysis, historical inquiry, or artistic performance. It allows teachers to select materials purposefully and offer explanations to provide a sense of the big ideas and how they are connected, structuring hands-on inquiries that engage students actively in using the material to make sense of how concepts build on each other and fit together. It helps them develop multiple and varied representations of key concepts that make them vivid and accessible to diverse learners, building on their different experiences.

Pedagogical content knowledge, when combined with **instructional design** knowledge, enables teachers to design, sequence, and pace appropriate activities; diagnose and respond to student learning needs with appropriate scaffolding; and integrate social, emotional, and academic skills. Constructing curriculum requires integrating knowledge about cognitive, social, and emotional processes with curricular content in ways that promote growth in students' understanding, sense of efficacy, and motivation.³⁷

This stands in contrast to the century-old "factory model" view that teachers merely need some canned techniques for teaching and the ability to follow predetermined curriculum packages or textbooks, rather than the deeper understanding of learners and learning that will allow them to design classroom environments and activities, and choose or adapt useful curriculum materials, to support individual children whose pathways to learning are unique.

Knowledge about teaching

Knowledge for teaching diverse learners. Pedagogical content knowledge must be combined with knowledge of methods for teaching students who learn in different ways; who have distinctive experiences, motivations, and interests; and who start in different places in their learning. This ability begins with **pedagogical learner knowledge**: the "ways in which teachers deal rigorously and supportively with learners."³⁸ Tools for getting to know students and how they think and learn (including how they think about themselves as learners) need to be combined with knowledge about learning modalities, differences, and disabilities; language development; cultural contexts; and differentiation of instruction to support each learner's cognitive, social, and emotional development and learning.³⁹

One aspect of this work is the use of multimodal teaching strategies that deliberately support success for students who learn in different ways—like those that are part of the Universal Design for Learning framework. Neuroscience has demonstrated that every human brain is different, and every path to learning will vary as well.⁴⁰ A critical aspect of enabling success for diverse learners without labeling, tracking, and stigma is the use of multiple modalities of engagement and expression in the classroom—and the use of multiple representations that can connect to students' different experiences and prior knowledge.

Assessment. Knowledge of **assessment** is also critical so that educators can appropriately identify what students are learning, how they are thinking, and what they are ready to learn. It is critical for educators to understand assessment as a tool to inform teaching and support learning, not

merely to assign grades.⁴¹ The feedback educators receive from ongoing formative assessments can help them better identify what students are learning and provide information on students' zones of proximal development⁴² in different domains to gauge what they are ready to learn next. Interpreting and using this information well requires a solid understanding of development, learning, content, and curriculum.

Teachers also need to learn how to understand assessment in relation to core principles of learning, such as motivation and metacognition. Thus, teachers should learn about how specific elements of assessment design—like clarity of criteria, the ways in which feedback is given, the specificity of that feedback, and opportunities to reflect and revise work in response to feedback—can affect students' motivation and their ability to develop the learning strategies, goals, and self-assessment abilities that allow them to monitor and guide their own learning.

Classroom management. To create a safe, productive environment for learning, teachers need to know about **building classroom communities**. In developmentally grounded schools, classroom management begins with knowing students well; planning and facilitating developmentally appropriate and engaging tasks; and creating an identity-safe classroom that demonstrates respect for students' experiences, engages them in co-constructing norms, and provides them with constructive roles within the classroom community.⁴³ Teachers also need to know how to create educative and restorative approaches to supporting behavior that provide interpersonal support and connection using reinforcing and reminding language; approach students in a nonthreatening manner; present students with problem-solving options as a means of deescalating challenging situations; and use nonpunitive, restorative consequences that allow students to make amends when needed.⁴⁴

Skills Teachers Need to Enhance Learning and Development

The science of learning and development demonstrates that, because each child's learning journey is unique, teaching cannot be fully routinized and standardized if it is to meet students' needs. Teachers must develop **adaptive expertise**, which allows them to make nonroutine judgments about what to do based on both general and specific knowledge of learners and their paths to learning, as well as curriculum goals.⁴⁵ To create adaptive experts whose knowledge can be effectively applied in a variety of circumstances, preparation programs must teach their students the "whys" and "whens," not simply the "how-tos."

This adaptive expertise enables teachers to learn to think pedagogically, plan based on students' prior knowledge and needs, reason through dilemmas, and analyze student learning to develop appropriate curricula for diverse learners. Further, they blend theory and practice around a vision of teaching that supports empowering learning for all students. As adaptive experts, teachers need to become lifelong learners open to changing their beliefs and strategies as they incorporate new knowledge and experiences. Adaptive expertise requires a willingness to ask for and receive feedback. Being a professional involves not simply knowing the answers, but also having the skills and will to work with others in searching for new answers when needed.

This highlights the importance of **metacognition** as a critical skill for prospective teachers to develop. Teaching is a particularly complex profession because it is never routine, has multiple goals that need to be addressed at the same time, involves incredibly diverse groups of students, and demands multiple kinds of knowledge to be synthesized in a way that allows teachers to make sense of their students' worlds.⁴⁶ Given these complexities, it is imperative that teachers develop the

metacognitive ability to reflect on their practice and student learning and ask themselves what they could be doing to better serve their students. It is critical for teachers to learn to reflect on student learning in relation to their own teaching, as well as to plan and act on those reflections, in order to effectively confront the complexity of their work and pursue strategies to meet the unending puzzles associated with student learning

Inquiry skills are also important. Because the learning process is embedded in the linguistic, cultural, and developmental experiences of students, teachers must learn how to discern these experiences so they can plan in response to their students' needs and support their progression along several developmental pathways: physical, social, emotional, cognitive, linguistic, and psychological. They need tools and practices that allow them to learn about their students' different ways of learning, prior experiences and knowledge, and cultural and linguistic capital. For example, teachers need to learn how to learn about the strengths and needs of individual students through careful observation and listening, as well as through such techniques as regular check-ins and class meetings, conferencing, journaling, and classroom surveys.

Teachers also need **culturally sensitive listening and questioning skills** to use both with students and when meeting with families as authentic partners. These skills can enable teachers to learn about their students' lives and learning strategies and to create more coherent, well-reinforced learning opportunities between home and school. These, in turn, can help create environments in which students feel culturally respected and emotionally and intellectually safe.

Because teachers have multiple goals, students are many and diverse, and teaching requires that many different areas of knowledge be integrated, teachers need well-developed **observation and analytic skills** to analyze what is going on in the classroom and to make sound decisions about curriculum, instruction, assessment, and classroom management in response to the needs of the particular students they teach.

Furthermore, meeting these needs depends on knowing how to take them into account while undertaking a purposeful journey toward curriculum goals that produce deep understanding of subject matter for students. **Curriculum design skills** build on an understanding of content and instructional design translated into skill in selecting materials and developing lessons and units of instruction that can achieve worthwhile learning objectives. When teaching these lessons, teachers need skills for **scaffolding** the learning process through the choice of materials, design of tasks, and use of helpful questions and supports to guide learners.

When they are teaching, teachers need a wide range of **instructional skills** that build on effective pedagogies. These include, for example, skills for explaining concepts and modeling strategies, leading a discussion, managing collaborative group work, eliciting and interpreting students' thinking, implementing norms and routines for classroom discourse and work, checking student understanding, and providing useful feedback.⁴⁷

Behind the scenes, teachers must also deploy **reflective and diagnostic skills** to what they see happening with student learning each day, so that they can identify and plan the next steps to support students in multiple areas of development, ranging from bolstering confidence to filling specific knowledge gaps or supporting academic, social, or emotional skills and habits. Preparing teachers who can learn *from* teaching, as well as learn *for* teaching, is one of the key challenges for teacher education.⁴⁸

Helping teachers learn to practice in these ways requires both coursework and clinical work that, together, help teachers understand students and how they learn while also developing skills and tools to organize and manage rich learning experiences. Studies have found that teacher education programs that have a greater impact on the initial conceptions, practices, and effectiveness of new teachers are those that connect theory and practice in coherent ways.⁴⁹

Dispositions

A key insight from the science of learning and development is that the social-emotional skills, habits, and mindsets educators bring to their work with children can either support or hinder development and learning.⁵⁰ Supportive, responsive relationships with caring adults are essential for healthy development and learning. Teachers who have the awareness, empathy, and cultural competence to understand children's experiences,

Teachers who have the awareness, empathy, and cultural competence to understand children's experiences, needs, and behaviors can promote children's positive engagement and confidence in support of their learning.

needs, and behaviors can promote children's positive engagement and confidence in support of their learning. In this section, we describe the dispositions needed to effectively integrate the science of learning and development into practice.

Educator empathy and social-emotional capacity

Creating an environment in which all students are respected, nurtured, and made to feel safe depends not only on teachers' classroom management skills but also on their social-emotional skills.⁵¹ For example, teachers who are empathic provide a model for students and communicate to students that they are seen and understood. The impact of teacher empathy as an important disposition is demonstrated by a series of experiments in which encouraging a more empathic mindset among teachers reduced implicit bias and punitive discipline while eliciting more respect from students.⁵²

Furthermore, teachers' role in cultivating students' social-emotional skills is accomplished through modeling of those skills as well as through direct instruction.⁵³ In order to support the development of social-emotional skills in children, teachers themselves need to learn and embody skills for managing adversity, directing energy in productive ways, and interacting positively with others. This includes (1) skills for cultivating empathy and caring for all their students, particularly for recognizing and supporting students who have experienced trauma; (2) skills for affirming students' identities and academic progress in ways that support student self-confidence and self-competence; and (3) interpersonal skills to address students' needs as possible within the classroom and to draw with care and discretion on outside-of-classroom resources that are needed.⁵⁴

Cultivating empathy. To build trust and positive relationships that reduce students' anxiety, teachers need to be able to practice empathy and view children's behaviors through the lens of child development and with an understanding of the effects of trauma. This allows teachers to

understand that problematic behaviors are typically the result of unmet needs that can be identified and addressed. Sometimes these behaviors can be traced to traumatic experiences rather than to willful defiance or disrespect.⁵⁵

Developing empathy can transform educators' relationships with students. For example, in one experiment, middle school math teachers were provided an empathy-enhancing experience.⁵⁶ Teachers were randomly assigned to one of two groups: the "empathic mindset" group and a control group. Those assigned to the empathic mindset condition read articles about the benefits of good student–teacher relationships that explained how students' feelings and experiences can cause them to act out. The articles encouraged teachers to maintain good relationships with students, even in the face of conflict. Teachers were asked to reflect on and write about how they could understand students' experiences and sustain positive relationships even when challenges arise. Two months later, these teachers were asked to read an article about a teacher who respected her students and to write about how they show respect to their own students. In the control condition, teachers read articles about the benefits of technology-based learning and were asked to reflect on and write about how they could bring a technology-based curriculum into their classrooms. Suspension rates in the empathic mindset classrooms were halved compared with the control group classrooms, disrupting the pattern of exclusions that produce academic failure.

In addition, teachers' perceptions of their similarities with students impact their relationship with students and, in turn, affect student achievement. In one study, teachers and students completed a survey and were assigned to one of four conditions: (1) no one received feedback about commonalities, (2) students learned five things they had in common with their teacher, (3) teachers learned five things they had in common with specific students, or 4) both students and teachers learned about five commonalities. Teachers who learned that they shared commonalities with their students perceived more positive relationships, and students earned higher grades when teachers learned about their similarities to those students. The intervention was most effective in improving teachers' relationships with historically underserved Black and Latino/a students, closing the achievement gap between these student groups and White students by over 60%.⁵⁷

Social-emotional capacities. Consistent with biological evidence that relationships impact brain development and learning, increasing evidence points to the importance of teachers' mental health and wellness for students' success.⁵⁸ Not surprisingly, high levels of teacher burnout coupled with inadequate skills to manage stress are associated with poorer student academic and behavioral outcomes.⁵⁹ Conversely, teachers' social-emotional health translates into enhanced efficacy and job satisfaction.⁶⁰ Helping educators learn stress management skills, as well as other social-emotional skills, is key to their effectiveness and to reductions in burnout and turnover in teaching. Furthermore, when educators have developed these skills, they can teach them to their students to support their success.

Among the tools available to support educators' social-emotional skills and wellness is training in mindfulness—which develops a calm attentiveness and awareness of experiences, often through attention to breathing and physical sensations, coupled with an attitude of openness and nonjudgment. There is a growing body of literature documenting the physical and mental health benefits of mindfulness practice,⁶¹ which can increase the capacity to respond calmly and skillfully based on the needs of the current moment. In a classroom environment where there are many competing demands for attention, developing the capacity to recognize what is happening in the moment and respond calmly and flexibly contributes to teachers' adaptive expertise. Studies find that training in mindfulness can reduce teachers' stress and emotional distress; help them regulate emotions; and develop greater

social-emotional competence, an enhanced sense of self-efficacy and well-being, and improved instructional practices and emotional support for students.⁶² Mindfulness-based programs that support educators in implementing positive coping mechanisms when dealing with stressors can also mitigate the impacts of chronic emotional stress, a particular job hazard in education when caring educators are continually concerned about trauma that impacts their students' lives.⁶³

Cultural competence and commitment to equity

Strongly related to teachers' development of capacities like empathy are the beliefs they carry and feedback they provide to their students. As noted earlier, teachers' perceptions of students shape expectations that often predict student achievement apart from prior ability. While the vast majority of teachers enter the profession with a passion for fostering children's learning, growth, and development, implicit bias can nonetheless color how they interact with their students. Thus, educators need to proactively cultivate positive and affirming attitudes in order to create culturally sensitive and identity-safe environments.⁶⁴

Schools foster or impede these beliefs to the extent that they group or track students in ways that convey messages about perceived ability, deliver stereotypic messages associated with group status, and emphasize ability rather than effort (e.g., "innate intelligence" vs. "hard work") in their judgments about students and their attributions of causes of success.⁶⁵

That affirming attitudes can make a difference in outcomes is suggested by the growing number of studies finding that students of color achieve at higher levels, attend school more regularly, and feel more cared for in the classroom when they have teachers of color,⁶⁶ likely because these teachers demonstrate strong belief in their students' abilities.⁶⁷

All teachers can convey affirming attitudes by expressing their confidence that students can learn; encouraging children to excel; and building on the individual and cultural resources they bring to the school, ranging from social knowledge of the community to mathematically rich pastimes such as chess and sports to expressive understanding of language use and popular culture.⁶⁸ Such teaching relies on a disposition toward developing classroom practices that capitalize on the funds of knowledge that are abundant in children's households and communities,⁶⁹ rather than on a deficit-based orientation.

Teachers' affirmation that students are seen as competent and valued also mitigates the effects of social identity threat or stereotype threat, which undermine performance. Many studies have shown that when teachers demonstrate their belief in student ability and provide feedback and supports clearly aimed at improvement, performance on tests, grades, and other academic measures improve significantly in ways that are frequently maintained over time.⁷⁰ Teachers who respect cultural differences are more apt to see all students as capable learners and to offset stereotype threat by conveying their faith in students' abilities.

Strategies that convey respect and concern for students—the basis of culturally responsive pedagogy—create a foundation for meaningful relationships and positive academic results.⁷¹ Practices and dispositions associated with culturally responsive pedagogy include (1) recognizing students' culturally grounded experiences as a foundation on which to build knowledge, (2) cultural competency in interacting with students and families, (3) an ethic of deep care and affirming views of students, and (4) a critical consciousness and sense of efficacy about learning and creating equity-oriented changes in the status quo that is consciously transmitted to students.⁷²

Sense of efficacy

All of the knowledge, skills, and dispositions that are associated with teacher effectiveness are, equally, related to teachers' sense of efficacy. This sense of efficacy refers to the beliefs individuals hold about their ability to successfully carry out a specific course of action.⁷³ Teachers' sense of efficacy affects their investment of effort, their enthusiasm for teaching, their classroom processes, and students' experiences.⁷⁴ Higher teacher efficacy is associated with more positive student–teacher relationships as well as greater student motivation and achievement.⁷⁵

Teachers are likely to feel a greater sense of efficacy when they have a strong professional learning community, which, in turn, strengthens their knowledge and skills for teaching.⁷⁶ Preparation to teach also strengthens efficacy. Teachers who complete preparation before they enter the field feel more efficacious and are more likely to remain in teaching⁷⁷ and produce higher student achievement.⁷⁸ Further, attrition rates of new teachers who have had comprehensive preservice preparation are half as much as those of beginning teachers who have not had strong clinical experiences along with coursework in learning, development, and curriculum.⁷⁹ Many of these features—including the study of curriculum materials and carefully supervised clinical practice—also distinguish programs whose graduates are more effective in supporting student learning gains.⁸⁰

In-service training that improves classroom environments, such as that associated with some social and emotional learning programs, has also been found to promote greater self-efficacy, more positive attitudes toward teaching, and teaching practices that are supportive of students,⁸¹ as well as positive academic and behavioral outcomes for students.⁸²

Additional Knowledge for School Leaders

In order to support practice aligned with the science of learning and development, leader preparation is as important as teacher preparation. School principals and other administrators must understand child development and learning in all the ways described above, *and* they must understand organizational development if they are to ensure that schools infuse this knowledge into school design, teaching, teacher development, school discipline, and parent involvement. Leaders must be able to design schools and systems that integrate the development of cognitive, social, and emotional abilities into student learning.⁸³

For school leaders to establish organizations based on the science of learning and development that build the supportive environment students need to thrive, they must know and value the pedagogical practices that support this type of learning in both children and adults. Then, they must employ an instructional leadership approach that orients teacher learning toward improving these practices, while also employing collective leadership practices that support collaborative buy-in from teachers, parents, and many other key stakeholders.⁸⁴

Instructional leadership does not simply refer to identifying instruction as a key component of learning, but instead refers to schools where school leaders help faculty identify and adopt practices that are productive for the school's students; support each other in deepening these practices; evaluate and coordinate how curricula and assessments align with these practices; apply professional development resources to support these practices; and regularly monitor teaching practices and student progress as part of continuous improvement cycles.⁸⁵

In addition to enabling the use of practices that support cognitive, social, and emotional learning, leaders must be able to create a positive environment that facilitates the use of educative and restorative behavioral supports that prioritize students' participation in the school community. Leaders also need to be aware of the needs of students who may be marginalized or living under adverse conditions and have the skills to organize the additional supports they need within the school and the surrounding community.

Just as supportive, responsive relationships are essential for children's learning, they are also critical conditions for teachers' learning.⁸⁶ Establishing trustful, collaborative relationships among staff is a critical component in making the transformation to whole child education. Relational trust among teachers, parents, and school leaders is a key resource for schools that predicts the likelihood of gains in achievement and other student outcomes when instructional expertise is also present.⁸⁷

Principals and school leaders need to know how they can nurture relational trust among educational staff through a range of strategies, including (1) creating time and space for staff collaboration focused on curriculum planning and improvement, (2) supporting teachers' growth and development through asset-based feedback and learning systems, (3) distributing leadership for many functions throughout the school, and (4) involving staff in decision-making.⁸⁸ The practice of distributed or shared leadership, which encourages teachers to take an active role in constructing and implementing the school's approach to its work, is associated with leader effectiveness as well as with teacher satisfaction and retention.⁸⁹ Engaging teachers in leadership roles with greater responsibility increases buy-in while also strengthening the professional community at the school.⁹⁰

These practices also support the development of collective efficacy among faculty. When teachers believe they can work together to overcome challenges and achieve goals, they are more likely to be effective at improving student achievement.⁹¹ Large-scale studies have found that improvements in teachers' effectiveness over time are related to the type of school they work in: Those in more supportive and collegial professional environments become more effective more rapidly than their peers in schools with less collaborative professional environments.⁹² These environments are characterized by collaboration among teachers, the availability of time and resources for teachers to improve their instructional abilities, and teacher evaluation that provides meaningful feedback.

Principals can learn to build trusting and collaborative relationships focused on the improvement of practice through professional learning communities that support both teacher and student learning.⁹³ The key elements of productive learning communities are that they focus on issues central to teachers' practice and that discussions dig beyond the surface level, toward "core suppositions, assumptions, and principles."⁹⁴ Leaders who orient school goals toward deeper learning for students model these practices in how they organize teacher learning and create opportunities to sustain this learning both formally and informally.

To implement useful professional learning opportunities, school leaders should be familiar with research that suggests that practitioners learn best in continuous, guided professional learning that contextualizes concepts within their needs and experience,⁹⁵ and that provides practitioners with opportunities that emphasize active engagement, assessment, observation, and reflection, rather than abstract discussion.⁹⁶

Thoughtful leadership focuses on more than just instructional practices. Leaders who understand how teacher wellness impacts teacher retention and burnout⁹⁷ prioritize policies that safeguard teaching time and allocate resources to support teachers in managing the impacts of stress. These organizational resources can include providing mindfulness or other wellness-oriented resources, protecting teaching time, creating consistent time for teachers to meet collaboratively in teams that allow teachers to use one another as resources, and empowering teachers to hold more authority in decision-making.⁹⁸

Leaders who understand how teacher wellness impacts teacher retention and burnout prioritize policies that safeguard teaching time and allocate resources to support teachers in managing the impacts of stress.

School leadership knowledge includes the ability to redesign schools in support of strong relationships by, for example, introducing looping or advisory systems and creating teaching teams that share students.⁹⁹ It also includes the ability to manage the changes needed to improve conditions for children and adults, to connect to communities, and to organize adult learning toward these ends.¹⁰⁰

In sum, to build the supportive environment that students and educators need in order to thrive, school leaders need to know how to design school structures for effective caring, intentional professional learning communities, and authentic collective leadership. Modeling practices that are learner-centered and that scaffold teachers in acquiring the same skills that students need facilitates an environment in which teachers experience these supports and in turn provide them to their students.

How Educators Can Develop the Necessary Knowledge, Skills, and Dispositions

In this section, we tackle the nontrivial question of *how* educators can acquire the knowledge, skills, and dispositions necessary to enact the science of learning and development in practice. The previous section addressed what teachers need to know and do to support student learning and what kinds of learning opportunities are helpful in developing these practices.¹⁰¹ Yet, even with these foundational advances, educator preparation that enables the practices required by a holistic conception of student learning and development is not yet common in the field, any more than such learning is common in pre-k–12 schools. Just as the call to utilize the science of learning and schools, so too does the need for educators to learn how to implement such practices place significant new demands upon educator preparation and professional development.

These demands come, in part, from the breadth and depth of the content educators must master, but also from the necessity of providing them with models and experiences of the sort of teaching and learning they will be expected to enact in schools. Building on what we know from the science of learning and development calls for a set of sophisticated practices that are more personalized and student-centered; more focused on deep, transferable learning; and more concerned with equity than practices that are widely found in American schools.

Challenges of Learning to Teach for Deeper Learning and Equity

There are three well-known challenges of learning to teach that are more pronounced when the kind of teaching needed to promote deeper learning is more complex than the norm:

1. The challenge of the apprenticeship of observation.¹⁰² One of the most significant challenges that teachers face in learning to teach is that they enter teaching having already had years of experience in schools as students. This prior school experience can provide motivation and models for teachers, but it can also create some important limitations. Students in schools see only the immediate, surface-level actions of teachers, rather than any of the thought, preparation, reflection, and intentions that inform those actions. Thus, these experiences can lead to misconceptions or unrealistic expectations about the work of teaching—for example, that it is merely a matter of mastering a few routines or that good teaching boils down to enthusiastic presentation or the simple "transfer" of information.¹⁰³

Teachers' school experiences may also leave them with an unreflective or incomplete understanding of issues of race and class in education and without the tools needed to design engaging and developmentally appropriate instruction for all students. Finally, since teaching practice thoroughly informed by the science of learning and development is still uncommon in k–12 schools, teachers may not have had the opportunity even to see it as students, which may potentially contribute to their misconceptions about what they should learn to do.

2. **The challenge of enactment.**¹⁰⁴ New educators also face the challenges of learning to put their ideas into practice and of solving the many problems of practice that arise, and they do so with many more clients at a time than other professionals. Preservice teachers must

learn to put their knowledge into plans for practice; weigh difficult decisions about what will work for which children under what circumstances; and then enact their plans in the classroom using a range of techniques to organize children's actions, gain their attention, inform their thinking, and support them as they engage in the various tasks the teacher has designed. While some might describe this kind of learning as being able to "apply" knowledge to practice, separating theory from practice creates a false dichotomy. Indeed, teaching is a prime example of a profession in which theory is embedded in and inseparable from the practice.¹⁰⁵ Learning how to think and act in these kinds of professional ways requires far more than "book learning."

3. The challenge of complexity.¹⁰⁶ Teaching is an incredibly complex and demanding task, featuring an array of activities and judgments that teachers must juggle simultaneously, pursuing multiple goals with both individuals and groups of students, all within the context of immediate lessons and long-term learning goals.¹⁰⁷ Students come to class with needs, challenges, questions, and dilemmas that are different to begin with and that evolve over time. Teaching these students requires attending to both content and social and intellectual development in ways that address the needs of individual students, groups of students, and the whole class in real time. In doing all this, teachers integrate their knowledge of subject matter and pedagogy; child development and social and emotional learning; and the interactions of students' strengths, needs, cultures, backgrounds, and prior experiences, all in ways that support learning for every student.

Designing Learning Experiences for Adults

In order to design learning opportunities that are effective and useful for educators, an understanding of adult learning theory is essential. Adults bring with them substantial prior knowledge and interpreted experience, and they may have fixed ideas or preconceptions that influence their receptivity to new information. This knowledge has been shaped by the culture and context within which adults live and work; social institutions and structures define the learning experience to a large extent.¹⁰⁸

Andragogy, a theoretical framework for adult learning, emphasizes both the prior knowledge and experiences adults bring to learning and their motivations to expand those experiences.¹⁰⁹ Its principles suggest that adult learners need to know why they should learn, see how knowledge is aligned with their values and goals, tap into their well of experiences to engage and drive meaningful learning, feel in control of their learning, and engage in task-oriented learning that reflects their experiences in the real world. Adult learners can be more successfully engaged when they know how the learning will take place, what learning will occur, and how it relates to their own professional purposes.¹¹⁰ For these reasons, it is useful to involve educators in planning for professional development.

Adult learning theory notes that, as is true for students of all ages, applying learning to real-world situations enables learners to make meaning through direct experience. Early work on experiential learning described the cyclical nature of learning in four stages: (1) concrete experience that involves active hands-on engagement to learn by doing; (2) reflective observation that entails observation and analysis; (3) abstract conceptualization that encourages critical thinking and making connections to the real world; and (4) active experimentation that applies knowledge, furthering experimential learning.¹¹¹ Specific strategies are recommended for each stage of the

cycle—for example, simulations and case studies for concrete experiences, discussions and small groups for observation and reflection, content sharing during abstract conceptualization, and internships and lab experiences for active experimentation.

"Transformational" adult learning that dramatically changes how individuals see the world and act within it takes place when earlier experiences or views are seen in a different light with new meaning.¹¹² Perspective transformation—the process by which one's perspective of oneself and the world shifts with greater understanding of the perspectives of others—is the vital first step in fostering personal and social change. It happens when faced with a dilemma for which previous perspectives or practices are inadequate. Looking at the world through the eyes of someone else, or perspective taking, is the mechanism by which transformation occurs. In teacher education, for example, it is crucial that participants understand the perspectives and experiences of their students, as well as the impacts of those experiences—including those that have been traumatic— on their development and learning.

To support this process, the transformative classroom environment should be safe, inclusive and open, and respectful of candidates and their cultures, featuring multiple modes of acquiring and presenting knowledge. Classroom environments are open when instructors are willing, themselves, to be reflective. Effective participation in transformative learning discourse requires emotional maturity, awareness, empathy, and control, as well as being aware of and managing one's emotions, motivating oneself, recognizing emotions in others, and handling relationships.¹¹³ These features are equally as important when adults are the learners as they are when children are being taught. As we illustrate below, these are features of impactful educator preparation and professional development experiences.

Key Strategies and Practices for Educator Preparation

The problems of the apprenticeship of observation, of complexity, and of enactment, along with the necessity of attending to the needs of adult learners, create parameters for prospective teachers' learning that should guide the design of effective programs. As described below, program design should center around a coherent vision of whole child development, learning, and teaching that guides pedagogical alignment between the ways in which educator candidates and their future students are supported and taught. This argues for a developmental approach to the development of educators (just as educators use with their students) that occurs experientially in contexts offering well-supported clinical experiences tightly linked to coursework that integrates theory and practice.

Key Strategies for Educator Preparation Program Design

Pedagogical alignment

A critical program strategy for enabling candidates to learn sophisticated approaches to teaching that extend beyond their previous school experience is the creation of **pedagogical alignment around a coherent vision** of whole child development, learning, and teaching. In both their coursework and the clinical work settings, new teachers and school leaders should experience the very kinds of teaching strategies they are expected to develop for the pupils they work with. Prospective teachers and leaders need to learn in the ways that they are expected to practice so that they have a deep personal understanding of the pedagogies and strategies they will use and rich models of practice

Prospective teachers and leaders need to learn in the ways that they are expected to practice so that they have a deep personal understanding of the pedagogies and strategies they will use and rich models of practice on which to draw.

on which to draw. Recent research on leading educator preparation programs¹¹⁴ illustrates how pedagogical alignment around a vision of learning for children and adults is:

- developmentally grounded and personalized to meet the needs of individual students;
- contextualized in real-world settings;
- applied in ways that can be transferred to new situations;
- located in productive communities of practice that reinforce the learning process; and
- explicitly focused on achieving equity for students.

In order for candidates to develop more robust understandings, it is important for them not only to study individual ideas but to see how they interact to produce a coherent vision of learning related to a coherent vision of teaching and schooling. What educators need in order to do their jobs well is tightly aligned to the capacities they are being asked to develop in their students: the ability to think critically and solve problems; apply knowledge to novel situations; engage and communicate well with others; and manage their work, and their classrooms, effectively. Thus, learning *about* pedagogy derived from the science of learning and development also means learning *with* and *through* such pedagogy. Enactment of the science of learning and development in practice becomes both the goal and the guide for teacher educators.

Well-designed clinical experiences

A corollary of this pedagogical alignment is **extensive engagement in clinical practice that instantiates the developmentally grounded practices educators need to learn**. In programs that prepare educators to teach and lead in new ways, educators experience those practices for themselves. Educator preparation uses and models student-centered pedagogies in courses and provides educators with opportunities to put these pedagogies into action in their clinical work; reflect on the results; and acquire a deep, flexible, firsthand understanding of learning and development. Extended student teaching or residency placements are carefully selected and designed to allow candidates to learn to teach or lead in settings that illustrate the science-based practices they are learning about in their courses. These settings provide opportunities for prospective educators to observe knowledgeable mentors who provide modeling, feedback, and coaching. This practical experience allows candidates to relate work in the classroom to coursework and to reflect on how specific practices influence student responses and learning.

Just as teaching hospitals in medicine were designed to bridge the divide between theory and practice by ensuring a place where best practices could be observed and learned, so strong school–university partnerships are critical to creating clinical placements that are consonant with the theoretical learning candidates are undertaking. In Finland, for example, all teachers are trained in model schools or partner schools that are part of the regular public school system but are connected to universities, which select the highly expert mentor teachers who work in these schools and include them as clinical members of the university faculty, while professors teach many of the courses on-site. Faculty of the partner schools and universities work closely together designing strategies, modeling practices, and researching their effects.¹¹⁵

In the United States, many programs have established what are often called professional development school partnerships as a means of creating sites where best practices can be developed, observed, and studied, while providing opportunities for clinical learning for student teachers or residents. At these sites, well-researched strategies are enacted in practice and candidates have access to a robust community of professionals working on these issues. Ideally, such partnerships avoid the frequent incongruity that can occur between teacher education programs and the schools at which their student teachers spend time. Called the "two-worlds pitfall," this situation may leave prospective teachers unable to overcome the disconnect between the ideas about teaching and learning espoused in their program and those they encounter in the classroom.¹¹⁶

These relationships can, and should, extend beyond school walls, as researchers have found that prospective teachers may form a shallow impression of their students if they work only in the school setting.¹¹⁷ Programs that enable student teachers to be involved in the community more broadly provide them with a deeper understanding of their students' and families' lives outside of school and offer opportunities to come to know their students well so as to better draw on their experiences and meet their needs.¹¹⁸

A developmental approach to the development of educators

Finally, educator program design should take a **developmental approach to the development of educators**, consciously supporting educators to go through the stages that eventually allow them to become increasingly expert. Just as children go through stages of development as they learn in various domains, so do teachers—from a focus on self to a focus on the student; from unexamined assumptions about teaching acquired when they were students to a thoughtful set of perspectives

about teaching acquired from professional knowledge and inquiry into many students' experiences; from attention to their own acts of teaching to attention to their students' processes of learning. With useful experience and guidance, teachers grow increasingly adept at understanding learning, teaching, and their students. Teachers develop the adaptive expertise that enables them to think, analyze, and act effectively in response to their contexts and their students' needs and to make productive decisions when many variables are in play. Well-designed, impactful experiences can allow these developmental processes to unfold more quickly and fully than might occur without this support.

To encourage adaptive expertise, teacher educators should promote candidates' ability to manage the classroom efficiently and their ability to innovate.¹¹⁹ It is important to develop novices' proficiency in basic classroom functions so that they can get beyond classroom management to the important work of promoting learning. Developing proficiency requires opportunities to practice a skill, get feedback, reflect, and practice again, something that is increasingly part of teacher preparation programs that tie clinical experiences to students' learning from the very beginning of the program, rather than attaching student teaching as a dollop at the end of several years of coursework.

A key element in freeing up people's capacities to learn new skills is to reduce unnecessary cognitive load that consumes mental space needed for new learning (which constitutes, in turn, what is called "germane load"). Several strategies to reduce extraneous cognitive load and optimize germane load can be drawn from the training of health professionals. For example, extraneous load can be reduced by using open-ended tasks (e.g., rather than finding the best solution, find as many solutions as possible), teaching in multiple modalities so that candidates can learn in the ways that are easiest for them, and using worked examples (e.g., in the teaching setting, start by critiquing an already developed curriculum plan, rather than developing a curriculum from scratch).¹²⁰

If candidates are focused on accomplishing learning goals with students in practice, rather than memorizing theories or practicing decontextualized skills, they will begin to see the complexities of teaching more effectively. Within this broader conception of goal-focused work, cognitive load can be managed by sequencing learning tasks from simple to complex (e.g., start by teaching part of a lesson, rather than the entire lesson; study the learning of a single child), and working from lower-to higher-fidelity environments (e.g., working with a small group of students in the classroom while building up to teaching the whole class; teaching individual lessons while working up to teaching an entire unit).

Germane load can be enhanced by varying the complexity of tasks as skills are mastered (e.g., engage in specific teaching practices with students with different learning needs) and by evoking self-explanation (e.g., prompting teachers to explain how a particular instructional approach facilitates particular students' learning), sensitizing them to the learning process and the importance of each child's developmental trajectory and needs.¹²¹

Studies have shown that, with the right set of learning experiences, new teachers can develop more expert practices much sooner and more fully than earlier thought.¹²² These findings parallel recent findings in cognitive development showing that, given well-chosen tasks with appropriate scaffolding and supportive learning environments, children can learn much more than may have been anticipated by biologically based theories of stage development.

Key Practices for Educator Preparation

These overarching strategies support a set of educator preparation practices research has shown make a strong difference in the capacities of educators. As shown in Figure 4, these include:

- anchoring candidate learning in the study of human development and learning;
- integrating theory and practice;
- providing opportunities for authentic practice, assessment, feedback, and reflection;
- engaging in inquiry and analysis; and
- collaborating in professional learning communities.



Anchoring candidate learning in the study of human development and learning

If one views the fundamental goal of education as developing the social, emotional, cognitive, and moral and ethical capacities of each young person, then deep understanding of human development and learning—in all its diversity—is the foundation and guide for the use of all other knowledge about teaching. Without these understandings, the study of curriculum or teaching methods is little more than a set of rudderless techniques that comprise a bag of tricks. Educator preparation programs vary widely in the extent to which they emphasize learning about child and adolescent development and learning. According to a report commissioned by the National Council for the Accreditation

If one views the fundamental goal of education as developing the social, emotional, cognitive, and moral and ethical capacities of each young person, then deep understanding of human development and learning in all its diversity—is the foundation and guide for the use of all other knowledge about teaching.

of Teacher Education (NCATE), "Most educators … have not been prepared to apply knowledge of child and adolescent development and learning and are thus not sufficiently able to provide developmentally oriented instruction."¹²³ In many states, alternative certification programs that provide fast-track pathways to the classroom do not offer courses in child development. In some states that have cut back on training requirements, even traditional programs lack such courses. In other cases, development is taught as part of a class in educational psychology that focuses on textbook principles not directly tied to what children and teachers do in the classroom.

The NCATE report suggests that teacher education programs should not only provide more formal opportunities to learn about child development in preservice coursework, but also make sure that candidates' classroom experiences, from observations to student teaching, are organized in a way that allows candidates to reflect on and apply this approach in practice. One example is offered by Southern Connecticut State University, which—in partnership with the developmentally grounded Comer School Development Program—recently transformed its approach. The college replaced courses in educational psychology that present abstract information about development and learning with courses on child or adolescent development that are designed to inform teaching decisions and are conducted in conjunction with fieldwork that makes that knowledge base vivid and applicable to classroom practice.¹²⁴

It is also important to connect learning about development to concrete practices that can be used to support child development in the classroom. Preparation programs can incorporate lessons from the many in-service programs that train educators to support social and emotional learning and that have been found effective in improving student behavior, attachment to school, achievement, and attainment.¹²⁵ These in-service programs typically provide curriculum materials for teachers to use in offering lessons on such strategies as emotional awareness and expression, self-regulation, empathy, problem-solving, and conflict resolution, and they offer guidance in how to enact these lessons, as well as, in some cases, coaching and peer supports.

In reviews of practice across preparation programs, the following recommendations are common:

- Teacher preparation curricula should integrate developmental science principles throughout all courses so that candidates can learn principles of development as they apply to learning, classroom management, curriculum, teaching methods, and other areas.
- Course content should be combined with practical applications, through supervised student teaching and mentoring, as well as classroom video examples, role-plays, lesson and unit planning, child study, and family engagement.
- For their student teaching experiences, candidates should be placed in classrooms with teachers who understand and implement an integrated approach to social, emotional, and academic development and learning.
- Faculties of education should hire personnel with expertise in development and learning domains and provide professional development to other faculty so they can infuse the science of learning and development into preservice teacher and principal education.
- Licensing and accreditation systems should focus more on teachers' learning opportunities and capacity to support child development and learning by moving from abstract theory to direct application tied to practice so that when teachers enter the classroom, they are well prepared to understand and teach children effectively.¹²⁶

Integrating theory and practice

Scaffolding teachers' performance to reach greater mastery also requires skillfully integrating clinical experience with coursework, which allows teachers to learn and practice ever more sophisticated applications of knowledge and skill.

Modeling practice. In impactful programs, instructors, supervisors, and cooperating teachers model practices they expect candidates to use, name them, explain why they are powerful, and indicate how they can be applied. For example, in the San Francisco Teacher Residency program, operated in collaboration with Stanford University and the University of San Francisco, candidates learning to teach English learners experience a class taught in an unfamiliar language, along with the strategies they can use to make the content and the language increasingly accessible. Then they more fully develop those pedagogies in both their university-based classroom and in the school classrooms where they are simultaneously apprenticing.

At the University of Colorado, Denver, faculty engage candidates in the kinds of learning activities they want them to be able to use, explaining how they design lessons and organize groups to meet their learning objectives, thus allowing candidates to understand their instruction and transfer it to their clinical experiences. Similarly, Montclair State University instructors engage candidates in the sorts of deeper learning experiences they want to see in pre-k–12 classrooms, continually making the implicit explicit and encouraging reflection so candidates can understand the moves and decisions that produce this kind of teaching. At Bank Street College, candidates take up real-world mathematics problems in groups, collaboratively solving them and then sharing their solution strategies with others as they learn to transfer these teaching strategies to their own classrooms, enabling their own students to unpack misconceptions and deeply understand the mathematics.¹²⁷

Integrating coursework and clinical work. Additionally, integrating theory and practice simultaneously, while reflecting on the results and refining next attempts, is critically important for solving the challenges of enactment and gradually dealing with the challenges of complexity.¹²⁸ Teacher education programs that incorporate classroom teaching throughout the learning experience (rather than saving it as a culminating project at the program's end) produce stronger knowledge and more effective practice.¹²⁹

Providing theoretical knowledge along with the opportunity for hands-on inquiry is more effective than either alone.¹³⁰ Programs that integrate coursework and clinical work design both around research-based methods for teaching, which are explored in fieldwork experiences as well as in readings and discussions, engaging in intentional integration that enables candidates to understand the practical relevance of theory and how to theorize practice.¹³¹ To support these integrated field experiences, effective programs establish and maintain productive partnerships with schools in which teacher candidates can experience teaching practice aligned with learning theory under the guidance of carefully selected and trained mentor teachers and with the support of faculty supervisors.

Candidates can develop and apply knowledge in practice through learning opportunities that are coordinated between their teacher education courses and clinical settings. These often include class assignments involving observation and analysis of teaching and student responses, as well as the structured planning and implementation of instructional strategies. When combined with time to reflect on teaching outcomes, these activities support teacher candidates' metacognition that leads to adaptive expertise. One example comes from High Tech High in San Diego, which runs a teacher preparation program for its own network schools and participating district schools in which candidates experience yearlong clinical placements alongside their coursework—both of which are grounded in project-based learning. A common course assignment, called Put It to Practice, allows teacher candidates to learn a new concept or practice in a course from faculty, try it in class soon after, and then return to reflect on the results with their teacher education colleagues.¹³²

Developing content pedagogy. Content pedagogy courses offer another opportunity for the application of knowledge to practice, while also providing teachers with the skills to create learning experiences that enable their own students to apply and transfer content knowledge to novel and complex problems. Combining content knowledge and pedagogical knowledge has already been described as a way of supporting higher-order thinking and transfer; teachers who learn to work with the core concepts of their disciplines give students the tools to apply practices of inquiry and ways of reasoning, conceptual frameworks, underlying structures, and fundamental knowledge in those disciplines, opening up new ways of seeing the world and building understanding.¹³³

For example, Stanford University offers a three-course curriculum and instruction sequence, with content-specific pedagogical training provided by instructors who were themselves expert classroom teachers in their disciplines. This course sequence starts with essential questions about the "why" of teaching the discipline and then moves on to the "how," from lesson planning to larger curriculum units, culminating in a performance assessment in which candidates plan and teach a unit, collecting and analyzing evidence of student learning.¹³⁴ These content-specific courses introduce candidates to the theories and pedagogical approaches that will help them create challenging learning experiences that help students engage in critical thinking and inquiry.

Content-specific methods also require candidates to examine students' developmental needs in subject-specific contexts, giving teachers the opportunity to apply learning from across their preparation experiences.

A number of successful teacher preparation programs use a common framework for curriculum design—the Understanding by Design (UbD) framework.¹³⁵ In this framework, teachers develop a design mindset as they start with the selection of goals and then design curriculum to attain those goals with their particular students in mind. UbD works backward from what students should know and be able to do in a particular subject to help teachers think, first, about curriculum goals; then about rich assessments that represent accomplishment of those goals; and then about a process of formative assessments and teaching and learning activities that lead students to be able to meet those goals. This process requires teacher candidates to understand learners' prior experiences and utilize their knowledge of child development to work backward from rigorous goals that are appropriate for their students. The UbD framework models inquiry and the application of knowledge of content, self, and students—all of which are key elements of adaptive expertise.

Learning from cases. Application is not limited to student teaching, which, while highly beneficial, does not give prospective teachers experience managing every classroom problem they might encounter. As in medicine, law, and other professions, case methods provide another useful link between theory and practice that allows for the exploration of theories and dilemmas as they occur in real classrooms. Analyzing cases can help candidates develop the expert thinking and reasoning skills expert teachers need, while surfacing some of the more challenging problems teachers face. They help "students move from an initially simplistic explanation of a situation to a more sophisticated, theory-based explanation."¹³⁶ In order for case methods to be effective, they should be well connected to central theories and broader underlying principles of practice.

Providing opportunities for authentic practice, assessment, feedback, and reflection

Human beings learn in large part from acting and reflecting on the results of their actions. Learning is accelerated by thoughtful feedback that recognizes strengths and identifies areas for next steps. This is as true for teachers as it is for students. Many effective programs use a teaching and learning inquiry circle as a means for developing reflective practice, framing teaching as a cycle of (1) planning, (2) teaching, (3) monitoring student learning and adjusting practice, and (4) reflecting on and developing next steps. In the Urban Teacher Education Program at the University of Colorado, Denver, university-based faculty, site supervisors, site professors, and clinical teachers in the partner schools all use this approach to guide candidates' teaching experiences, building feedback and reflection consistently into their preparation.

Effective preparation programs use a wide range of authentic assessments that allow for the application of skills and knowledge and offer opportunities for candidates to bring together theory and practice to demonstrate their learning. These include regular informal and formal evaluations of student teaching and other demonstrations of skills, as well as culminating assessments, such as capstone portfolios. These portfolios typically include video and analyses of teaching and student learning illustrating how candidates address student needs as well as the demands of the curriculum. It is critically important that these assessments, along with the standards and rubrics used to evaluate teaching performances, are grounded in the science of learning and development, recognizing that teachers' actions must respond thoughtfully to students rather than marching through standardized procedures and techniques without regard to children's

experiences and needs. Fortunately, teaching standards exist that can help leverage this kind of instruction. In contrast to mechanistic views of teaching embedded in some state and local teacher evaluation systems, the research-based professional standards developed by the National Board for Professional Teaching Standards and the companion standards for beginning teachers developed by the Interstate New Teacher Support and Assessment Consortium (InTASC) support a view of teaching as complex and responsive to students' developmental and learning pathways.

By examining teaching in the light of learning, these standards—and their associated performance assessments, which include teacher plans, classroom video, evidence of student learning, and commentaries describing why specific decisions were made—define teaching effectiveness as responsive to students' distinctive backgrounds, experiences, and learning needs. Studies have found that these assessment processes are in fact related to teacher effectiveness¹³⁷ and stimulate teacher learning.¹³⁸

These kinds of assessments can help develop adaptive expertise by helping teachers learn to attend to students' thinking and development and to reflect productively on the relationship between teaching decisions and student learning and behavior.¹³⁹ Performance tasks and portfolios of teaching measured against shared standards with opportunities for feedback provide a structured means of reflecting on and documenting learning experiences. For example, at Alverno College, long known for the use of authentic assessments for evaluating student abilities, candidates complete a series of performance assessments throughout their coursework and fieldwork, demonstrating how they analyze student development and learning, plan and implement teaching, and evaluate the outcomes to determine next steps. This work is evaluated in relation to the InTASC standards, which also guide the portfolios of their practice, which candidates assemble and are interviewed about at several junctures. These demonstrate whether they have developed the dispositions and mindsets teachers need to help all students develop their full potential.

Similar performance assessments have recently been developed for administrators in several states, examining how principals are able to analyze instruction and support teacher learning, as well as assess school practices and outcomes and design change processes. In California, for example, prospective principals must demonstrate through their work in schools how they can facilitate communities of practice, support teacher growth, and analyze data to inform school improvement and promote equity.¹⁴⁰ The criteria on which these performances are evaluated incorporate knowledge about student learning and development across social, emotional, and cognitive domains, as reflected in the California teaching standards and administrative standards, and knowledge about teacher development to support student development.

Engaging in inquiry and analysis

Inquiry strategies guide reflection and application, preparing candidates to ask productive questions when they encounter novel teaching challenges in different schools and community contexts, while modeling inquiry-based approaches candidates can employ with their own students. Practitioner inquiry can be used to help student teachers become more reflective and analytic, teaching them to construct knowledge for themselves and allowing them to better understand the vast network of social conditions that shape their students' lives. Action research, for example, can support educators in developing a disposition toward reflective, analytic thinking, along with the important skills of data collection, observation, analysis, and reflection.

Inquiring through autobiography.

Many programs have incorporated the idea that, before prospective teachers can inquire productively into the lives of their students, it is important for them to query their own experiences. Prospective teachers base many of their beliefs about teaching and learning on their own idiosyncratic educational experiences. Confronting, and reflecting upon, these Many programs have incorporated the idea that, before prospective teachers can inquire productively into the lives of their students, it is important for them to query their own experiences.

implicit theories is part of the developmental process for novice teachers as they progress from thinking about themselves and their teaching to focusing more on student learning. The use of autobiography is helpful in determining the implicit theories of education and preconceptions that they bring to the table. Having student teachers write educational autobiographies brings their assumptions about students, teaching, and learning to the surface, where they are available for critical examination. And while writing their own autobiographies requires student teachers to reflect on their assumptions, reading the biographies of others enables them to gain new perspectives on teaching, learning, and contexts for development.¹⁴¹

At Trinity University in San Antonio, TX, for example, candidates in the Master of Arts in Teaching program complete a racial autobiography assignment. Drawing on the framework outlined in Singleton and Linton's *Courageous Conversations About Race*,¹⁴² this assignment is aimed at helping candidates expand their understanding of the development of their own racial identities and, through coming to know themselves and others, increase their ability to know their students. Candidates write about their feelings toward, understanding of, and engagement with race as these have progressed in their program and in their lives, and they share this autobiography with their cohort. The assignment is assessed on the analysis of their experiences and how candidates have come to understand them through the work.

Inquiring through child case studies. Effective preparation programs use systematic observation and case studies of children as a powerful pedagogy to help shape student teachers' developmental learning.¹⁴³ Drawing on data from observation, interviews, records, and analyses of student work, teachers directly apply what they are learning about child development to the case of a specific child. The case construction process enables learners to apply their theoretical knowledge to concrete examples, and the completed case provides a basis for evaluating their ability to do so.

Meaningful child observation assignments for prospective teachers typically use guiding questions and gear assignments toward specific concepts. Sometimes these observations are linked to specific learning tasks that can help prospective teachers begin to think about how to identify the zone of proximal development for students in different domains. At other times the observation is of children during free time, when they are able to choose activities, providing insight into how the child approaches learning and clues about the child's social, emotional, and physical abilities in different contexts. Engagement with families and community settings also provides insight for candidates, showing prospective teachers in more detail what the lives of their students are like inside and outside of school.¹⁴⁴

As one example of this process, candidates at Bank Street College—one of the early developers of the observational approach—conduct child cases in many courses. One of the first of these, the Observation and Recording course, is designed to help prospective teachers learn to look closely and nonjudgmentally at evidence about children to inform all aspects of their teaching. In "O and R," as it is popularly called, candidates read texts on the observation and study of children while applying what they learn over several months of assignments. These include weekly written observations of a child at school, a paper examining the child in the context of his or her peers, an age-level study designed to see the child in the light of developmental theory, and observations of the child as a learner and member of a learning community. Class discussions center on children as learners and sharpen candidates' evidence-seeking skills as well as their awareness of their own cultural or other biases.

A similar assignment used to anchor the Adolescent Development course at Stanford University asks teacher candidates to shadow a student through a full day of school, meet with family members at home or in the community, and collect evidence of student work and learning—as well as interviewing and observing the student in school—so as to develop a more complete understanding of the student's experiences and to plan productive avenues of instruction. Weekly observation logs that form the basis for the final case emphasize nonjudgmental observation, so that student behaviors are not labeled, but rather examined to gain insight into the student and to form questions for the teacher to pursue. The class highlights a different component of adolescent development each week—including cognitive, emotional, social, and physical development—and residents use their observation logs to synthesize the information they gather in light of these topics.¹⁴⁵ Similar case studies of learning are conducted in courses on literacy, English learner development, and special education. Ultimately, child observation assignments help teachers develop the close observational skills and the ability to interpret developmental data they will need to construct tasks that meet children where they are and move them along the developmental pathways.

Inquiring through action research. Productive teacher education develops teachers who can learn *from* teaching as much as it prepares candidates *for* teaching. Action research is an important tool that is increasingly used in various countries to develop in teachers the skills for continuous improvement of teaching focused on students and their learning. A practitioner action research project is a form of "intentional, systematic, and rigorous inquiry."¹⁴⁶ When teachers use this methodology, they can focus on the needs of particular students; on broader questions about classroom practice (for example, whether a new approach to teaching mathematics is more productive and engaging); or on questions about school practices, such as the effects of the schoolwide discipline policy. A major goal is for educators to develop an inquiry stance toward their work and to develop skills for both asking productive questions and analyzing evidence that can contribute to answers.

An action research project is also part of the curriculum of the Newark Montclair Urban Teacher Residency at Montclair State University in New Jersey, where residents form an inquiry question and engage in multiple cycles of planning, acting, observing, and reflecting on the results. In a series of workshops, residents collaborate to consider their students' needs and to discuss how to improve instruction in light of their research findings, with the goal of understanding how they can conduct inquiries that will continually improve their teaching practice.¹⁴⁷ Practitioner inquiry can also support cultural learning, whether through child case studies or analyses of school and community practices:

By studying schools, prospective teachers can learn about the nature of the school as an institutional culture, exploring ways in which the context outside the classroom influences the lives of students and teachers. They can see the ways in which school policies and practices both support and hinder teachers' efforts to be culturally responsive.... If they study schools where equity and social justice are priorities, they might learn about ways that teachers can work collectively to bring about changes in their schools that will increase access to knowledge for all students.¹⁴⁸

Collaborating in professional learning communities

The context of learning in teacher education is important. In particular, learning within professional communities provides mutual support, opportunities to learn from others' perspectives and expertise, and modeling for leading a collaborative classroom. Preservice programs organized in cohorts and in-service learning organized around teaching teams and networks create professional communities in which teachers can observe one another, share practices, develop plans together, and solve problems collectively. Interacting with students, other prospective teachers, expert teachers, and the tools of teaching (lesson plans, assessments, etc.) allows novice teachers to access "experiences, practices, theories, and knowledge of the profession" that would otherwise be unattainable.¹⁴⁹

Within programs and schools, professional learning communities may also be organized according to subject areas, grade levels, or areas of practice. Learning communities may be formed across schools and universities—as the National Writing Project and Readers and Writers Workshop do—and such communities can be an integral part of clinical partnerships between educator preparation programs and professional development schools. An example of this comes from the University of Colorado, Denver, where the model of school—university partnership is based on the concept of "simultaneous renewal." Ongoing professional learning and improvement of practice are part of the work of candidates, clinical teachers, university faculty, and school staff. University faculty are hired for their expertise in practice as well as research, while coursework is connected to applications in clinical experiences. With k–12 student learning as the top priority, school and university educators collaborate to prepare new teachers and enhance the learning of veteran teachers, while engaging in collaborative inquiry.

Professional learning communities act as a source of support for candidates, providing them with places to get and share teaching and curriculum ideas and to solve problems of practice, while learning to create such communities in their own classrooms. Such communities also allow candidates to learn how to manage challenges that arise in collaborative work and to practice giving and receiving feedback. Working with other educators is part of professional practice and helps candidates experience how many perspectives can come together to produce a well-formed outcome, both in the classroom and in the school more broadly. This preparation for teamwork and collaboration helps prepare new teachers to modify and improve the schools they will eventually enter, hopefully enabling them to positively shape both their own classroom environments and the school as a whole. Cohorts not only serve as an organizational structure to support the learning of teacher candidates, but also model the importance of building authentic relationships

within learning communities. When combined with school partnerships, cohort-based learning communities expand to include k-12 schools and educators, creating deeper connections between preparation programs and district schools.¹⁵⁰

Similarly, strong leader preparation programs engage prospective principals in collaborative communities of practice within their cohorts, and they model distributed leadership.¹⁵¹ Thus, when candidates then go on to lead schools, they have models for and tactics to support their staff in collaborative learning.

Creating Systems That Support Educator Learning

Just as children's development and learning are shaped by interactions among the environmental factors, relationships, and learning opportunities they experience, educators' ability to use the principles of the science of learning and development in practice requires their immersion in a similarly supportive context. Building a positive, collaborative culture focused on whole child development and learning requires policies and practices that create pedagogical alignment between how systems support adults and how they support children.

Professional Development Supporting Educators' Practice

Many of the features of effective preservice educator preparation are equally found in effective in-service professional learning experiences. A recent review of research regarding professional development that proved effective in changing teachers' practices and improving student outcomes found that effective models share seven features. These approaches:

- 1. Are content focused, focusing on curriculum development and instructional practices that are central to teachers' work in the classroom.
- 2. Incorporate active learning, directly engaging teachers in analyzing practice, as well as designing and trying out teaching strategies.
- 3. Support collaboration, typically in job-embedded contexts, creating space for teachers to share ideas, learn together, and create communities of practice.
- 4. Use models of effective practice, providing teachers with a clear vision of what practices look like, including lesson plans, unit plans, assignments, samples of student work, observations of peer teachers, and video or written cases of teaching.
- 5. Provide coaching and expert support involving the one-on-one sharing of expertise about content and evidence-based practices, focused directly on teachers' individual needs.
- 6. Offer opportunities for feedback and reflection, including time and structures for teachers to intentionally think about, receive input on, and make changes to their practice.
- 7. Are sustained over time, providing teachers with adequate time to learn, practice, implement, and reflect upon new strategies that facilitate changes in their practice.¹⁵²

Other research supports the effectiveness of these features. Studies find that the extent and duration of training make a difference in teachers' effectiveness in implementing programs,¹⁵³ as do on-site observations of teachers, with coaching and feedback on their teaching methods.¹⁵⁴ Effective professional learning for school leaders is also a continuous and shared endeavor, rather than an isolated event that can be easily discarded.¹⁵⁵ Like professional learning for teachers, it features collaboration, active learning, modeling, coaching, feedback, and reflection.¹⁵⁶ For educators across role groups, the process of learning to enact new skills is supported by skilled coaching in peer support groups that allow educators to discuss strategies and dilemmas as they develop, strengthen, and refine their abilities together.

These features can be seen in some effective programs that prepare teachers to support students' social-emotional and academic learning. An example is the Facing History and Ourselves program, which enables teachers to integrate social and emotional learning with academic learning for 6th-to 12th-grade students. The program's instructional methods emphasize reflection, interaction, cooperation, deliberation, and discussion of complex and meaningful social and civic issues. These are designed to produce in-depth understanding of historical processes and events applied to more humane engagement in today's world. Educators initially undertake up to 5 days of intensive training, with additional follow-up coaching on-site as well as virtual support during the school year. The program has an educator network that provides access to webinar-based professional learning communities and coaching options and a library of books, videos, and curriculum units. A randomized controlled trial study of 9th- and 10th-grade students from diverse backgrounds reported improved academic performance, improved social-emotional skills and attitudes, and improved teaching practices from this work.¹⁵⁷

Another example, the PATHS program, which aims to promote peaceful conflict resolution, emotion regulation, empathy, and responsible decision-making, enables teachers to observe demonstration lessons, practice key lessons, and use curriculum materials that outline lessons they can adopt or adapt, along with implementation guidelines, suggestions for engaging parents, and a list of common questions and answers. In workshops, teachers plan for how they will use the PATHS concepts and lessons in their classrooms and how they will integrate the material with other academic content. Training continues over time once teachers are regularly implementing the curriculum, usually within 6 to 8 weeks, giving them opportunities to share what is going well, along with challenges they have encountered. These challenges are addressed using the same problem-solving approach that is taught to students, demonstrating pedagogical alignment. Studies find that with this training, implementation of the program results in improved behavioral and academic outcomes for students.¹⁵⁸

In the PATHS program, staff also focus on how to integrate their practices schoolwide. Professional development is offered for principals, specialist teachers (including those with special-need classrooms), central office leaders, and professional staff (psychologists, social workers, etc.), as well as parents and community stakeholders. Administrators are provided training on how best to support the implementation of the program, including on how principals can become instructional leaders for social and emotional learning in their schools within a multi-tiered system of support. Administrators and school leaders also learn how to use these concepts in their daily routine with students, teachers, parents, and the community.

Systemic Support for Learning

As the examples above suggest, sustained changes require not just individual practitioner learning but a broader, systems-level approach at the school, district, and network levels.

Schoolwide support for learning grounded in the science of development

One well-tested schoolwide approach to systems change that draws on the science of learning and development is the School Development Program (SDP), which has helped transform school cultures and student achievement in hundreds of schools.¹⁵⁹ SDP focuses on teaching all members of

the school community to use the principles of child and adolescent development to create a positive environment for children's development along all of the developmental pathways—physical, social/ interactive, psycho-emotional, ethical, linguistic, and cognitive/intellectual.¹⁶⁰

The SDP model is rooted in the idea that *all* members of the school community must work together—from paraprofessionals and cafeteria staff to teachers, principals, and parents. The holistic involvement of all adults who collectively create the school community allows everyone to learn a common framework and knowledge base that all of them bring to the task of raising children together. This creates a coherent, safe experience for children, supporting greater progress in their ability to experience the secure relationships that allow them to flourish.

The goals of the SDP model are achieved through supporting staff development, as well as parent engagement and development, and developing a comprehensive school plan that includes social and academic components along with ongoing assessment and modification of progress.¹⁶¹ School staff learn to craft positive behavior interventions for students as they come to understand that problem behaviors are a result of unmet needs and often can be traced to traumatic out-of-school experiences, rather than being a product of willful misbehavior. This insight alters staff perceptions of students, which in turn alters how staff manage issues that arise, leading to reduced behavioral problems and improved relationships. This approach can be incorporated within a multi-tiered systems of support framework, a strategy that targets interventions to address and help students overcome barriers to learning.

Illustrating pedagogical alignment, the SDP uses three guiding principles for how school staff work to build a positive school environment: consensus, collaboration, and no-fault problem-solving.¹⁶² The guiding principles hold all adults involved accountable for modeling collaboration, no-fault problem-solving, and reaching consensus in each activity, thus creating relationships and common ground that allow adults to work more productively and continue to learn together within and across SDP schools that continue to convene for professional learning.¹⁶³

It is worth noting that the creation of strong relationships and shared decision-making among adults is an important component of creating a positive school climate and reducing stress among adults as well as students. This is a key consideration for educators, who consistently rank highest among professionals in their level of job stress. A 2017 survey of approximately

The creation of strong relationships and shared decision-making among adults is an important component of creating a positive school climate and reducing stress among adults as well as students.

5,000 educators found that teachers were far more stressed than other professionals, reporting their work was stressful 61% of the time, a rate that has increased in recent years.¹⁶⁴

There are four main sources of teacher stress: school organization that lacks strong leadership and a healthy climate, escalating job demands, limited autonomy and decision-making power, and lack of resources to bolster teacher social and emotional competence.¹⁶⁵ Initiatives that teach leaders and staff how to problem-solve and make decisions together also improve school climate and build educators' social-emotional skills while reducing many sources of stress.

Network support for professional learning

Some schoolwide approaches, like the SDP, have evolved into networks of schools that have been developed around practices grounded in the science of learning and development.¹⁶⁶ These networks hold promise as a catalyst for developing educator capacity to learn from practice and build a professional knowledge base that enables the field to address complex educational problems.

Another example is the EL Education network (formerly called Expeditionary Learning), which creates a schoolwide approach to whole child education, incorporating social and emotional learning into academic learning for 6th- to 12th-grade students—an approach that has been found to produce stronger achievement for students than their similar peers in comparison group schools.¹⁶⁷ The program offers an open-source English language arts curriculum that focuses on building cultural sensitivity and appreciation for diversity. The whole-school transformation needed to become an EL Education school requires a multiyear commitment from leaders and staff, wherein staff take significant ownership of the goals and processes of the change. Typically, educators from the entire school experience shared training over 2 to 3 weeks during summer break, plus a total of 30 to 40 days on-site and off-site.

The first step in this process is for staff to identify a set of character traits and behaviors for themselves and students—again illustrating the pedagogical alignment that allows staff and students to learn and grow in similar ways together. The program emphasizes both relational character (e.g., kindness, honesty, and integrity) and performance character (e.g., organization, perseverance, and craftsmanship) in students and staff. Teachers plan opportunities to develop character through collaborative work that takes place in learning "expeditions" and community-building activities. Students participate in service learning to make meaningful contributions to the community while supporting the development of interpersonal and academic skills. The learning process for educators continues in active networks of schools that have adopted the EL approach. Teachers and leaders have access to curriculum resources, videos of teaching practice, samples of student work, regular conferences, workshops, training for coaches, and site seminars in which schools invite others to visit and learn particular strategies they have found successful.¹⁶⁸

Another school improvement network that has enabled schools to use practices that are built on the science of learning and development is the Institute for Student Achievement (ISA), a nonprofit high school redesign organization that has worked successfully with many schools in New York.¹⁶⁹ Two quasi-experimental studies of ISA schools found that ISA significantly improves high school attendance, credit accumulation, grade promotion, high school graduation rates, and college attendance and persistence rates.¹⁷⁰ ISA's model is approved by the U.S. Department of Education as an evidence-based whole-school reform model for high schools. ISA's research-based framework uses seven principles to design schools, all of which are well-rooted in the science of learning and development:¹⁷¹

1. An inquiry-based approach to a college preparatory curriculum that is implemented through an organizational and instructional infrastructure for student support, social-emotional development, integration of literacy and numeracy across the curriculum, multiple forms of assessment—including formative and summative performance assessments that engage students in processes of feedback and revision—and internships and community service.

- 2. **Dedicated interdisciplinary grade-level teams of teachers** who teach the same cohort of students to personalize the school environment and provide a support network for student achievement.
- 3. **Continuous professional development** that includes individual and team coaching and ISA-sponsored institutes for cross-school professional learning.
- 4. **Distributed counseling** that involves all faculty in the academic, social, and emotional development of students through structures such as advisory programs that provide each student and his/her family with a school adult advocate.
- 5. **Extended school day and school year** arrangements that provide extra time for students to have the opportunity they need to get assistance with homework, test preparation, internships, and community service projects.
- 6. **Parent involvement** in school activities promoted through the open exchange of information between parents, teachers, and counselors, and regular feedback to parents regarding their children's school experience and progress.
- 7. **Continuous organizational improvement**, including structures, processes, and data use that engage the school in continuous learning and ongoing changes to strengthen student outcomes.

These features are similar to those identified in a study of three deeper learning networks that collectively span over 400 schools throughout the United States and internationally.¹⁷² The study sought to discover how these sophisticated instructional practices—which have tended to exist in small educational niches—were able to spread across many schools without becoming diluted or distorted, successfully reaching students who are otherwise typically marginalized. The networks in this study achieved successful results by:

- using a well-defined vision for deeper learning and equity to guide all aspects of school design and implementation, including transformations in how adults and students are organized to work together within schools;
- collaborating with local stakeholders to ensure that the model is responsive to and embraced by local communities;
- building and maintaining systems of professional learning that support teachers and school leaders to enact deeper learning strategies together, including opportunities to see and examine new pedagogies in action, curriculum and assessment resources to support the use of these pedagogies, the creation of professional learning communities to plan and reflect together within and across schools, and coaching for both leaders and classroom educators;
- developing a leadership pipeline so that new schools are led by educators who have both relevant hands-on training in leadership for this kind of practice and previous deep experience enacting these pedagogies and strategies; and
- maintaining a learning orientation with opportunities for needs assessments and ongoing access to multiple successful models so schools continually improve.

Districtwide Support for Professional Learning

There are two key considerations for districtwide support of professional learning:

- 1. Supporting new practices is a broad systemic undertaking, not limited to individual teachers in their classrooms.
- 2. Designing professional learning is an iterative process of refinement and improvement rather than a set of canned workshops.

Lessons about how to support this iterative learning have been developed and tested through design-based implementation research (DBIR), which aims to scale successful professional practices so that they are applicable in diverse contexts.¹⁷³ DBIR aims to simultaneously design interventions and improve their implementation. Rather than focusing primarily on the fidelity of implementation, the approach engages learning scientists, policy researchers, and practitioners in inquiry that seeks to understand the variation in learning conditions—for example, access to high-quality materials and teaching that students of color from low-income families often lack—and to intervene to improve those conditions through professional development and improvements in organizational processes.¹⁷⁴

One example of this is the Middle School Mathematics and the Institutional Setting of Teaching project, which worked over 5 years to identify the key elements needed to support mathematics teachers' development of ambitious and equitable instructional practices, rooted in research on mathematics learning, on a large scale.¹⁷⁵ These practices enable teachers to understand their students' zone of proximal development and scaffold instruction so that students can engage in cognitively demanding tasks—those that require deep understanding of content and procedures rather than mere memorization. Teachers also help students learn to engage in productive instructional conversations so they can deepen their understanding of mathematics by discussing and reflecting on their own and their peers' understanding of concepts. Ultimately, this builds a supportive classroom space that employs productive instructional strategies, social and emotional learning, and individualized supports.

Researchers worked with educators in four urban districts to reorganize professional development practices at the systems level by creating a coherent instructional system supported by instructional coaching, teacher networks, school instructional leadership, and district instructional leadership. As they refined this work they identified the importance of ongoing intentional learning events (i.e., consistent meetings on a specific subject, in which teaching teams have active opportunities to learn about problems that are close to their classrooms); coaches who offer support to principals and teachers in identifying, implementing, and reflecting on best instructional practices; organizational routines and protocols for observing and reflecting on practice; and tools such as instructional tasks, students' written work, and class video recordings that generate dialogue, reflection, and improvement on existing practices. These insights reinforce the following observation:

Teachers do need to work together to improve instruction and student learning, but administrators also need to be part of the process. The process may be as simple as having principals participate in professional development activities for teachers, or as complex as reorganizing the formal authority structure of the school. In any case, it requires a rethinking of the "bright line" that often separates administration and teaching.¹⁷⁶

Rethinking this "bright line" reinforces the whole-school investment in instructional change. In addition, developing school leaders' conceptual understanding of instructional practices supports school leaders in identifying teaching and learning that is conceptually deep as well as pedagogically sound.¹⁷⁷ Also key is that professional learning be supported by leaders who help design school systems that consistently reinforce collaboration, empathy, a growth mindset, self-efficacy, and a sense of community. School systems that effectively implement the science of learning and development align themselves around a vision that prioritizes these skills. Beginning with a foundational needs assessment to understand areas of strength and growth, they design sustained professional learning opportunities for faculty and staff, and they continuously reassess their capacity to improve upon their practices.

Summary and Conclusion

Emerging knowledge from the science of learning and development holds great promise for the realization of children's potential as educators gain a deeper understanding of how to use these insights to support their students through safe communities and secure relationships; integrated social, emotional, and academic supports; and the kinds of teaching that enable children ultimately to guide their own learning. Concentrated efforts will be needed to create professional learning opportunities that can help educators develop the kinds of knowledge, skills, and dispositions needed to enact these insights. These efforts will be most successful if they offer pedagogical alignment that allows educators to experience the same kinds of learning they will use with students and if they engage educators in sustained, collegial efforts to practice new skills and strategies.

Furthermore, since these insights imply a set of practices very different from the presumptions on which many schools are based, a broader conception of learning is needed—one in which organizational and system learning figures prominently and in which learning for school and system redesign is essential. This learning should aim to build a collective understanding of how schools can be designed for strong relationships; provide environments full of safety and belonging; offer rich learning experiences; explicitly develop social, emotional, and cognitive skills and mindsets; and ensure that student supports are readily available to remove barriers to learning. In these settings, teachers and school leaders prepared to enact the science of learning and development will be able to make a significant difference in the lives of the students they serve.

Endnotes

- Cantor, P., Osher, D., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Malleability, plasticity, and individuality: How children learn and develop in context. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 307–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1398649; Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Drivers of human development: How relationships and context shape learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(1), 6–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1398650; Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- See, for example: Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press; Wechsler, M., Wojcikiewicz, S., Adams, J., Carver-Thomas, D., Espinoza, D., Gardner, M., Hyler, M., Podolsky, A., & Cook-Harvey, C. (2022). *Deeper learning leadership: Preparing principals for 21st-century schools*. Learning Policy Institute. (Forthcoming).
- 3. Darling-Hammond, L. (2010). Recruiting and retaining teachers: Turning around the race to the bottom in high-need schools. *Journal of Curriculum and Instruction*, *4*(1), 16–32. https://doi.org/10.3776/joci.2010. v4n1p16-32.
- Cantor, P., Osher, D., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Malleability, plasticity, and individuality: How children learn and develop in context. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 307–337. https://doi.org/10.1 080/10888691.2017.1398649; Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Drivers of human development: How relationships and context shape learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(1), 6–36. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1398650.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 6. Learning Policy Institute & Turnaround for Children. (2021). *Design principles for schools: Putting the science of learning and development into action*. https://k12.designprinciples.org.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 8. National Research Council. (2012). *Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21st Century*. National Academies Press.
- 9. Stafford-Brizard, K. B. (2016, July 22). Nonacademic skills are the necessary foundation for learning. *EducationWeek*. http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2016/07/21/nonacademic-skills-are-the-necessary-foundation-for.html.
- 10. Learning Policy Institute & Turnaround for Children. (2021). *Design principles for schools: Putting the science of learning and development into action*. https://k12.designprinciples.org.
- 11. Sarason, S. B. (1996). The Culture of the School and the Problem of Change. Teachers College Press.
- 12. Steele, D. M., & Cohn-Vargas, B. (2013). Identity Safe Classrooms: Places to Belong and Learn. Corwin Press.
- 13. Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). "Interaction Between Learning and Development" in Gauvain, M., & Cole, M. (Eds.). *Readings on the Development of Children* (pp. 29–35). Harvard University Press.
- 14. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 15. National Research Council. (1999). *How People Learn: Brain, Mind, Experience, and School*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/6160.
- 16. Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*. Wiley.

- 17. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). *How People Learn II: Learners, Contexts, and Cultures*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24783.
- 18. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). *How People Learn II: Learners, Contexts, and Cultures*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24783.
- For more details about these concepts and the science behind them, see: Cantor, P., Osher, D., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Malleability, plasticity, and individuality: How children learn and develop in context. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 307–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2017.1398649;
 Osher, D., Cantor, P., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Drivers of human development: How relationships and context shape learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(1), 6–36. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10888691.2017.1398650; Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 20. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). *How People Learn II: Learners, Contexts, and Cultures*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24783.
- 21. Moll, L. C., Amanti, C., Neff, D., & Gonzalez, N. (1992). Funds of knowledge for teaching: Using a qualitative approach to connect homes and classrooms. *Theory Into Practice*, *31*(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849209543534.
- Lee, C. D. (2017). Integrating research on how people learn and learning across settings as a window of opportunity to address inequality in educational processes and outcomes. *Review of Research in Education*, 41(1), 88–111. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X16689046; Rogoff, B. (2003). *The Cultural Nature of Human Development*. Oxford University Press.
- Patall, E. A., Cooper, H., & Robinson, J. C. (2008). The effects of choice on intrinsic motivation and related outcomes: A meta-analysis of research findings. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(2), 270. https://doi.apa.org/ doi/10.1037/0033-2909.134.2.270.
- 24. Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). "Interaction Between Learning and Development" in Gauvain, M., & Cole, M. (Eds.). *Readings on the Development of Children* (pp. 29–35). Harvard University Press.
- 25. Stafford-Brizard, K. B. (2016, July 22). Nonacademic skills are the necessary foundation for learning. *EducationWeek*. http://www.edweek.org/ew/articles/2016/07/21/nonacademic-skills-are-the-necessary-foundation-for.html.
- Jones, S. M., & Bouffard, S. M. (2012). Social and emotional learning in schools: From programs to strategies and commentaries. *Social Policy Report*, *26*(4), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2379-3988.2012. tb00073.x.
- 27. Osher, D., & Kendziora, K. (2010). "Building Conditions for Learning and Healthy Adolescent Development: Strategic Approaches" in Doll, B., Pfohl, W., & Yoon, J. (Eds.). *Handbook of Youth Prevention Science* (pp. 121–140). Routledge.
- 28. Schmader, T., & Johns, M. (2003). Converging evidence that stereotype threat reduces working memory capacity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *85*(3), 440–452. https://doi.apa.org/ doi/10.1037/0022-3514.85.3.440.
- 29. Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). The Dreamkeepers: Successful Teachers of African American Children. Wiley.
- 30. Gershenson, S., Holt, S. B., & Papageorge, N. W. (2016). Who believes in me? The effect of student-teacher demographic match on teacher expectations. *Economics of Education Review*, *52*, 209–224. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2016.03.002; Major, B., & Schmader, T. (2018). "Stigma, Social Identity Threat, and Health" in Major, B., Dovidio, J. F., & Link, B. G. (Eds.). *The Oxford Handbook of Stigma, Discrimination, and Health* (p. 85). Oxford University Press; Okonofua, J. A., & Eberhardt, J. L. (2015). Two strikes: Race and the disciplining of young students. *Psychological Science*, *26*(5), 617–624. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615570365.
- 31. Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). *The Dreamkeepers: Successful Teachers of African American Children*. Wiley; Steele, C. M. (2011). *Whistling Vivaldi: How Stereotypes Affect Us and What We Can Do*. W. W. Norton & Company.

- Nagy, W., & Townsend, D. (2012). Words as tools: Learning academic vocabulary as language acquisition. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 47, 91–108. https://doi.org/10.1002/RRQ.011; Valdes, G., Bunch, G., Snow, C., & Lee, C. (2005). "Enhancing the Development of Students' Language(s)" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 126–168). Wiley.
- Marian, V., & Shook, A. (2012). The cognitive benefits of being bilingual. *Cerebrum, 13*. https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3583091/; Kuo, L. J., Chen, Z., & Ko, S. W. (2016). The impact of bilingual experience on the literacy development of struggling readers. *Journal of Childhood & Developmental Disorders, 2*(9). https://doi.org/10.4172/2472-1786.100017.
- 34. Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*. Wiley.
- 35. Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, *15*(2), 4–14. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X015002004.
- 36. Grossman, P., Schoenfeld, A., & Lee, C. (2005). "Teaching Subject Matter" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 201–231). Wiley.
- 37. Reigeluth, C. M., & Carr-Chellman, A. A. (Eds.). (2009). *Instructional-Design Theories and Models*. Vol. III: *Building a Common Knowledge Base*. Routledge.
- 38. Grimmett, P. P., & MacKinnon, A. M. (1992). Craft knowledge and the education of teachers. *Review of Research in Education*, *18*, 385–456. https://doi.org/10.2307/1167304.
- 39. Banks, J., Cochran-Smith, M., Moll, L., Richert, A., Zeichner, K., LePage, P., Darling-Hammond, L., & Duffy, H. (2005). "Teaching Diverse Learners" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 232–274). Wiley.
- 40. Cantor, P., Osher, D., Berg, J., Steyer, L., & Rose, T. (2018). Malleability, plasticity, and individuality: How children learn and develop in context. *Applied Developmental Science*, *23*(4), 307–337. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10888691.2017.1398649.
- 41. Shepard, L., Hammerness, K., Darling-Hammond, L., Rust, F., Snowden, J. B., Gordon, E., Gutierrez, C., & Pacheco, A. (2005). "Assessment" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 275–326). Wiley.
- 42. Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). "Interaction Between Learning and Development" in Gauvain, M., & Cole, M. (Eds.). *Readings on the Development of Children* (pp. 29–35). Harvard University Press.
- 43. LePage, P., Darling-Hammond, L., Akar, H., Gutierrez, C., Jenkins-Gunn, E., & Rosebrock, K. (2005). "Classroom Management" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 327–357). Wiley.
- 44. Gregory, A., Clawson, K., Davis, A., & Gerewitz, J. (2016). The promise of restorative practices to transform teacher–student relationships and achieve equity in school discipline. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Consultation*, *26*(4), 325–353. https://doi.org/10.1080/10474412.2014.929950.
- 45. Bransford, J., Derry, S., Berliner, D., Hammerness, K., & Beckett, K. L. (2005). "Theories of Learning and Their Roles in Teaching" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 40–87). Wiley.
- 46. Lampert, M. (2001). Teaching Problems and the Problems of Teaching. Yale University Press.
- 47. Ball, D. L., & Forzani, F. M. (2009). The work of teaching and the challenge for teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *60*(5), 497–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487109348479.
- 48. Ball, D. L., & Cohen, D. (1999). "Developing Practice, Developing Practitioners" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Sykes, G. (Eds.). *Teaching as the Learning Profession: Handbook of Policy and Practice* (1st ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- 49. Hammerness, K., & Darling-Hammond, L. (with Grossman, P., Rust, F., & Shulman, L.). (2005). "The Design of Teacher Education Programs" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 390–441). Wiley.

- 50. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 51. Jones, S. M., & Bouffard, S. M. (2012). Social and emotional learning in schools: From programs to strategies and commentaries. *Social Policy Report*, *26*(4), 1–33. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2379-3988.2012.tb00073.x.
- 52. Okonofua, J. A., Paunesku, D., & Walton, G. M. (2016). Brief intervention to encourage empathic discipline cuts suspension rates in half among adolescents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(19), 5221–5226. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523698113.
- 53. Hamre, B. K., & Pianta, R. C. (2001). Early teacher–child relationships and the trajectory of children's school outcomes through eighth grade. *Child Development*, 72(2), 625–638. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00301.
- 54. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 55. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- Okonofua, J. A., Paunesku, D., & Walton, G. M. (2016). Brief intervention to encourage empathic discipline cuts suspension rates in half among adolescents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(19), 5221–5226. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1523698113.
- 57. Gehlbach, H., Brinkworth, M. E., King, A. M., Hsu, L. M., McIntyre, J., & Rogers, T. (2016). Creating birds of similar feathers: Leveraging similarity to improve teacher–student relationships and academic achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *108*(3), 342–352. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/edu0000042.
- Jennings, P. A., & Greenberg, M. T. (2009). The prosocial classroom: Teacher social and emotional competence in relation to student and classroom outcomes. *Review of Educational Research*, 79(1), 491–525. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654308325693.
- 59. Herman, K. C., Hickmon-Rosa, J. E., & Reinke, W. M. (2018). Empirically derived profiles of teacher stress, burnout, self-efficacy, and coping and associated student outcomes. *Journal of Positive Behavior Interventions*, *20*(2), 90–100. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098300717732066.
- 60. Jones, S. M., Bouffard, S. M., & Weissbourd, R. (2013). Educators' social and emotional skills vital to learning. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *94*(8), 62–65. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172171309400815.
- 61. Khoury, B., Lecomte, T., Fortin, G., Masse, M., Therien, P., Bouchard, V., Chapleau, M-A., Paquin, K., & Hofmann, S. G. (2013). Mindfulness-based therapy: A comprehensive meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *33*(6), 763–771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2013.05.005.
- Crain, T. L., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., & Roeser, R. W. (2017). Cultivating teacher mindfulness: Effects of a randomized controlled trial on work, home, and sleep outcomes. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, *22*(2), 138–152. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/ocp0000043; Flook, L., Goldberg, S. B., Pinger, L., Bonus, K., & Davidson, R. J. (2013). Mindfulness for teachers: A pilot study to assess effects on stress, burnout, and teaching efficacy. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, *7*(3), 182–195. https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12026; Jennings, P. A., Brown, J. L., Frank, J. L., Doyle, S., Oh, Y., Davis, R., Rasheed, D., DeWeese, A., DeMaurao, A. A., Cham, H., & Greenberg, M. T. (2017). Impacts of the CARE for Teachers program on teachers' social and emotional competence and classroom interactions. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *109*(7), 1010–1028. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/edu0000187; Roeser, R. W., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Jha, A., Cullen, M., Wallace, L., Wilensky, R., Oberle, E., Thomson, K., Taylor, C., & Harrison, J. (2013). Mindfulness training and reductions in teacher stress and burnout: Results from two randomized, waitlist-control field trials. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 787–804. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0032093.
- Roeser, R. W., Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Jha, A., Cullen, M., Wallace, L., Wilensky, R., Oberle, E., Thomson, K., Taylor, C., & Harrison, J. (2013). Mindfulness training and reductions in teacher stress and burnout: Results from two randomized, waitlist-control field trials. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 787–804. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0032093.

- 64. Steele, D. M., & Cohn-Vargas, B. (2013). Identity Safe Classrooms: Places to Belong and Learn. Corwin Press.
- 65. Dweck, C. S. (2000). Self-Theories: Their Role in Motivation, Personality, and Development. Psychology Press.
- 66. Cherng, H. Y. S., & Halpin, P. F. (2016). The importance of minority teachers: Student perceptions of minority versus White teachers. *Educational Researcher*, *45*(7), 407–420. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X16671718; Egalite, A. J., & Kisida, B. (2018). The effects of teacher match on students' academic perceptions and attitudes. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *40*(1), 59–81. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717714056; Egalite, A. J., Kisida, B., & Winters, M. A. (2015). Representation in the classroom: The effect of own-race teachers on student achievement. *Economics of Education Review*, *45*, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. econedurev.2015.01.007.
- 67. Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). The Dreamkeepers: Successful Teachers of African American Children. Wiley.
- 68. Lee, C. D. (2017). Integrating research on how people learn and learning across settings as a window of opportunity to address inequality in educational processes and outcomes. *Review of Research in Education*, *41*(1), 88–111. https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X16689046.
- 69. Moll, L. C., Amanti, C., Neff, D., & Gonzalez, N. (1992). Funds of knowledge for teaching: Using a qualitative approach to connect homes and classrooms. *Theory Into Practice*, *31*(2), 132–141. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849209543534; Nasir, N. S., Rosebery, A. S., Warren, B., & Lee, C. D. (2014). "Learning as a Cultural Process: Achieving Equity Through Diversity" in Sawyer, R. K. (Ed.). *The Cambridge Handbook of the Learning Sciences* (pp. 686–706). Cambridge University Press.
- 70. Steele, C. M. (2011). *Whistling Vivaldi: How Stereotypes Affect Us and What We Can Do*. W. W. Norton & Company.
- 71. Carter, P., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2016). "Teaching Diverse Learners" in Gitomer, D. H., & Bell, C. (Eds.). *Handbook of Research on Teaching* (5th ed., pp. 593–638). American Educational Research Association.
- 72. Carter, P., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2016). "Teaching Diverse Learners" in Gitomer, D. H., & Bell, C. (Eds.). *Handbook of Research on Teaching* (5th ed., pp. 593–638). American Educational Research Association; Ladson-Billings, G. (2009). *The Dreamkeepers: Successful Teachers of African American Children*. Wiley; Villegas, A. M., & Lucas, T. (2002). *Educating Culturally Responsive Teachers: A Coherent Approach*. State University of New York Press.
- 73. Bandura, A. (1997). Self-Efficacy: The Exercise of Control. W. H. Freeman/Times Books/Henry Holt & Co.
- 74. Zee, M., & Koomen, H. M. (2016). Teacher self-efficacy and its effects on classroom processes, student academic adjustment, and teacher well-being: A synthesis of 40 years of research. *Review of Educational Research*, *86*(4), 981–1015. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315626801.
- 75. Tschannen-Moran, M., & Hoy, A. W. (2001). Teacher efficacy: Capturing an elusive construct. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *17*(7), 783–805. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(01)00036-1.
- 76. Chester, M. D., & Beaudin, B. Q. (1996). Efficacy beliefs of newly hired teachers in urban schools. *American Educational Research Journal*, *33*(1), 233–257. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312033001233.
- 77. Darling-Hammond, L., Chung, R., & Frelow, F. (2002). Variation in teacher preparation: How well do different pathways prepare teachers to teach? *Journal of Teacher Education*, *53*(4), 286–302. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053004002; Ingersoll, R., Merrill, L., & May, H. (2014). What are the effects of teacher education and preparation on beginning teacher attrition? CPRE Research Reports. https://repository.upenn.edu/cpre_researchreports/78.
- 78. Clotfelter, C. T., Ladd, H. F., & Vigdor, J. L. (2007). Teacher credentials and student achievement: Longitudinal analysis with student fixed effects. *Economics of Education Review*, *26*(6), 673–682. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2007.10.002.
- Ingersoll, R., Merrill, L., & May, H. (2014). What are the effects of teacher education and preparation on beginning teacher attrition? CPRE Research Reports. https://repository.upenn.edu/ cpre_researchreports/78.
- Boyd, D. J., Grossman, P. L., Lankford, H., Loeb, S., & Wyckoff, J. (2009). Teacher preparation and student achievement. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *31*(4), 416–440. https://doi.org/10.3102/ 0162373709353129.

- 81. See, for example: Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., & Sawyer, B. E. (2004). Primary-grade teachers' self-efficacy beliefs, attitudes toward teaching, and discipline and teaching practice priorities in relation to the "Responsive Classroom" approach. *The Elementary School Journal*, *104*, 321–341. https://doi.org/10.1086/499756.
- Brock, L. L., Nishida, K. K., Chiong, C., Grimm, K. J., & Rimm-Kaufman, S. E. (2008). Children's perceptions of the social environment and social and academic performance: A longitudinal analysis of the *Responsive Classroom* approach. *Journal of School Psychology*, *46*(2), 129–149. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2007.02.004.
- 83. National Research Council. (2012). *Education for Life and Work: Developing Transferable Knowledge and Skills in the 21st Century*. National Academies Press.
- 84. Leithwood, K. A. (2012). *Ontario Leadership Framework 2012: With a discussion of the research foundations*. Institute for Education Leadership.
- 85. Darling-Hammond, L., Meyerson, D., LaPointe, M., & Orr, M. T. (2009). *Preparing Principals for a Changing World: Lessons From Effective School Leadership Programs*. Jossey-Bass.
- 86. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 87. Bryk, A. S., & Schneider, B. (2002). Trust in Schools: A Core Resource for Improvement. Russell Sage Foundation.
- 88. Bryk, A. S., & Schneider, B. (2002). Trust in Schools: A Core Resource for Improvement. Russell Sage Foundation.
- 89. Leithwood, K. A. (2012). *Ontario Leadership Framework 2012: With a discussion of the research foundations*. Institute for Education Leadership.
- 90. York-Barr, J., & Duke, K. (2004). What do we know about teacher leadership? Findings from two decades of scholarship. *Review of Educational Research*, 74(3), 255–316. https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543074003255.
- 91. Donohoo, J. (2017). Collective teacher efficacy research: Implications for professional learning. *Journal of Professional Capital and Community*, 2(2), 101–116. https://doi.org/10.1108/JPCC-10-2016-0027.
- 92. Kraft, M. A., & Papay, J. P. (2014). Can professional environments in schools promote teacher development? Explaining heterogeneity in returns to teaching experience. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis,* 36(4), 476–500. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373713519496; Ronfeldt, M., Farmer, S. O., McQueen, K., & Grissom, J. A. (2015). Teacher collaboration in instructional teams and student achievement. *American Educational Research Journal*, 52(3), 475–514. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831215585562.
- 93. DuFour, R., & Reeves, D. (2016). The futility of PLC Lite. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 97(6), 69–71. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0031721716636878; Vescio, V., Ross, D., & Adams, A. (2008). A review of research on the impact of professional learning communities on teaching practices and student learning. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 24, 80–91. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2007.01.004.
- 94. Cobb, P., & Jackson, K. (2012). Analyzing educational policies: A learning design perspective. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *21*(4), 487–521. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2011.630849. (p. 492).
- 95. Althauser, K. (2015). Job-embedded professional development: Its impact on teacher self-efficacy and student performance. *Teacher Development*, *19*(2), 210–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/13664530.2015.101134
 6; Cobb, P., & Jackson, K. (2012). Analyzing educational policies: A learning design perspective. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, *21*(4), 487–521. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2011.630849; Gibbons, L. K., & Cobb, P. (2017). Focusing on teacher learning opportunities to identify potentially productive coaching activities. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *68*(4), 411–425. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487117702579.
- 96. Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017). *Effective teacher professional development*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/122.311.
- 97. Maslach, C., & Leiter, M. (2008). Early predictors of job burnout and engagement. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*, 498–512. https://doi.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0021-9010.93.3.498.
- Curry, J. R., & O'Brien, E. R. (2012). Shifting to a wellness paradigm in teacher education: A promising practice for fostering teacher stress reduction, burnout resilience, and promoting retention. *Ethical Human Psychology and Psychiatry: An International Journal of Critical Inquiry, 14*, 178–191. https://doi.org/10.1891/1559-4343.14.
 3.178; Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Bishop, J., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2016). *Solving the teacher shortage: How to attract and retain excellent educators*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/262.960.

- 99. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 100. Sutcher, L., Podolsky, A., & Espinoza, D. (2017). *Supporting principals' learning: Key features of effective programs*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/supporting-principals-learning-key-features-effective-programs-report.
- 101. For reviews, see: Cochran-Smith, M., & Zeichner, K. M. (Eds.). (2005). Studying Teacher Education: The Report of the AERA Panel on Research and Teacher Education. Lawrence; Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do. Wiley.
- 102. Lortie, D. C. (1975). Schoolteachers: A Sociological Study. University of Chicago Press.
- 103. Feiman-Nemser, S., & Buchmann, M. (1989). Describing teacher education: A framework and illustrative findings from a longitudinal study of six students. *Elementary School Journal*, *89*(3), 365–378.
- 104. Kennedy, M. (1999). "The Role of Preservice Teacher Education" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Sykes, G. (Eds.). *Teaching as the Learning Profession: Handbook of Policy and Practice* (pp. 54–86). Jossey-Bass.
- 105. Schon, D. A. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think in Action. Basic Books.
- 106. Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*. Wiley.
- 107. Lampert, M. (2001). Teaching Problems and the Problems of Teaching. Yale University Press.
- 108. Merriam, S. B., Caffarella, R. S., & Baumgartner, L. M. (2007). *Learning in Adulthood: A Comprehensive Guide*. Jossey-Bass.
- 109. Knowles, M. S. (1988). *The Modern Practice of Adult Education: From Pedagogy to Andragogy*. Cambridge Book Co.
- 110. Candy, P. C. (1991). Self-Direction for Lifelong Learning. Jossey-Bass.
- 111. Kolb, D. A. (1984). Experiential Learning: Experience as the Source of Learning and Development. Prentice-Hall.
- 112. Mezirow, J. (2000). "Learning to Think Like an Adult: Core Concepts of Transformation Theory" in Mezirow, J., & Associates. (Eds.). *Learning as Transformation. Critical Perspectives on a Theory in Progress* (pp. 3–33). Jossey-Bass.
- 113. Mezirow, J. (2000). "Learning to Think Like an Adult: Core Concepts of Transformation Theory" in Mezirow, J., & Associates. (Eds.). *Learning as Transformation. Critical Perspectives on a Theory in Progress* (pp. 3–33). Jossey-Bass. (p. 11).
- 114. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press; Wechsler, M., Wojcikiewicz, S., Adams, J., Carver-Thomas, D., Espinoza, D., Gardner, M., Hyler, M., Podolsky, A., & Cook-Harvey, C. (2022). *Deeper learning leadership: Preparing principals for 21st-century schools*. Learning Policy Institute. (Forthcoming).
- 115. Darling-Hammond, L., Burns, D., Campbell, C., Goodwin, A. L., Hammerness, K., Low, E., Sato, M., & Zeichner, K. (2017). *Empowered Educators: How High-Performing Systems Shape Teaching Quality Around the World*. Jossey-Bass.
- 116. Feiman-Nemser, S., & Buchmann, M. (1985). Pitfalls of experience in teacher preparation. *Teachers College Record*, *87*(1), 53–65.
- 117. Cochran-Smith, M. (1995). Color blindness and basket making are not the answers: Confronting the dilemmas of race, culture, and language diversity in teacher education. *American Educational Research Journal*, *32*(3), 493–522. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312032003493.
- 118. Boyle-Baise, M. (2002). *Multicultural Service Learning: Educating Teachers in Diverse Communities*. Teachers College Press; Gallego, M. A. (2001). Is experience the best teacher? The potential of coupling classroom and community-based field experiences. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *52*(4), 312–325. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0022487101052004005.

- 119. Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.) (2005). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*. Wiley. (pp. 363–364).
- 120. Paas, F., Renkl, A., & Sweller, J. (2003). Cognitive load theory: Instructional implications of the interaction between information structures and cognitive architecture. *Instructional Science*, 32, 1–8. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/B:TRUC.0000021806.17516.d0.
- 121. Chung, R. R. (2008). Beyond assessment: Performance assessments in teacher education. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *35*(1), 7–28.
- 122. Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*. Wiley. (p. 381).
- 123. Snyder, J., & Lit, I. (2010). *Principles and exemplars for integrating developmental sciences knowledge into educator preparation*. National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education.
- 124. Darling-Hammond, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Flook, L., Gardner, M., & Melnick, H. (2018). With the Whole Child in Mind: Insights and Lessons From the Comer School Development Program. Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development. For other examples, see: Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning. Harvard Education Press.
- 125. Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., Dymnicki, A. B., Taylor, R. D., & Schellinger, K. B. (2011). The impact of enhancing students' social and emotional learning: A meta-analysis of school-based universal interventions. *Child Development*, *82*(1), 405–432. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01564.x.
- 126. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press; Schonert-Reichl, K. A., Hanson-Peterson, J. L., & Hymel, S. (2015). "SEL and Preservice Teacher Education" in Durlak, J. A., Domitrovich, C. E., Weissberg, R. P., & Gullotta, T. P. (Eds.). *Handbook of Social and Emotional Learning: Research and Practice* (pp. 406–421). Guilford Press; Snyder, J., & Lit, I. (2010). *Principles and exemplars for integrating developmental sciences knowledge into educator preparation*. National Council for Accreditation of Teacher Education.
- 127. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 128. National Research Council. (2000). *Inquiry and the national science education standards: A guide for teaching and learning*. National Academies Press.
- 129. Baumgartner, F., Koerner, M., & Rust, F. (2002). Exploring roles in student teaching placements. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 29, 35–58; Hammerness, K., & Darling-Hammond, L. (with Grossman, P., Rust, F., & Shulman, L.). (2005). "The Design of Teacher Education Programs" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 390–441). Wiley.
- 130. Schwartz, D. L., & Bransford, J. D. (1998). A time for telling. *Cognition and Instruction*, *16*(4), 475–522. https://doi.org/10.1207/s1532690xci1604_4.
- 131. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 132. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 133. Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do*. Wiley.
- 134. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.

- 135. Wiggins, G., & McTighe, J. (2005). *Understanding by Design*. ASCD; Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 136. Hammerness, K., Darling-Hammond, L., & Shulman, L. S. (2002). Toward expert thinking: How curriculum case writing prompts the development of theory-based professional knowledge in student teachers. *Teaching Education*, *13*(2), 219–243. https://doi.org/10.1080/1047621022000007594.
- 137. Goldhaber, D., Cowan, J., & Theobald, R. (2016). Evaluating prospective teachers: Testing the predictive validity of the edTPA [CEDR Working Paper 2016-7]. University of Washington; National Research Council. (2008). Assessing Accomplished Teaching: Advanced-Level Certification Programs. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/12224; Newton, S. P. (2010). Preservice performance assessment and teacher early career effectiveness: Preliminary findings on the Performance Assessment for California Teachers. Stanford Center for Assessment, Learning, and Equity.
- 138. Chung, R. R. (2008). Beyond assessment: Performance assessments in teacher education. *Teacher Education Quarterly, 35*(1), 7–28; Lustick, D., & Sykes, G. (2006). National Board Certification as professional development: What are teachers learning? *Education Policy Analysis Archives, 14*(5). https://doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v14n5.2006; Sato, M., Wei, R. C., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2008). Improving teachers' assessment practices through professional development: The case of National Board Certification. *American Educational Research Journal, 45*(3), 669-700. https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831208316955.
- 139. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 140. California Commission on Teacher Credentialing. (2019). Performance assessment overview: Overview of *leadership cycles and rubrics, Version 2.0.*
- 141. Baumgartner, F., Koerner, M., & Rust, F. (2002). Exploring roles in student teaching placements. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, *29*, 35–58.
- 142. Singleton, G. E., & Linton, C. (2006). *Courageous Conversations About Race: A Field Guide for Achieving Equity in Schools*. Corwin Press.
- 143. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press; Horowitz, F. D., Darling-Hammond, L., Bransford, J., Comer, J., Rosebrock, K., Austin, K., & Rust, F. (2005). "Educating Teachers for Developmentally Appropriate Practice" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 88–125). Wiley.
- 144. Roeser, R. W. (2002). Bringing a "whole adolescent" perspective to secondary teacher education: A case study of the use of an adolescent case study. *Teaching Education*, *13*(2), 155–178. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 1047621022000007567; Boyle-Baise, M., & Sleeter, C. E. (2000). Community-based service learning for multicultural teacher education. *Journal of Educational Foundations*, *14*(2), 33.
- 145. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 146. Cochran-Smith, M., & Lytle, S. L. (1993). *Inside/Outside: Teacher Research and Knowledge*. Teachers College Press.
- 147. Darling-Hammond, L., Oakes, J., Wojcikiewicz, S. K., Hyler, M. E., Guha, R., Podolsky, A., Kini, T., Cook-Harvey, C. M., Jackson Mercer, C. N., & Harrell, A. (2019). *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning*. Harvard Education Press.
- 148. Villegas, A. M., & Lucas, T. (2002). *Educating Culturally Responsive Teachers: A Coherent Approach*. State University of New York Press. (p. 145).
- 149. Hammerness, K., & Darling-Hammond, L. (with Grossman, P., Rust, F., & Shulman, L.). (2005). "The Design of Teacher Education Programs" in Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World: What Teachers Should Learn and Be Able to Do* (pp. 390–441). Wiley.

- 150. Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, *24*(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 151. Darling-Hammond, L., Meyerson, D., LaPointe, M., & Orr, M. T. (2009). *Preparing Principals for a Changing World: Lessons From Effective School Leadership Programs*. Jossey-Bass; Wechsler, M., Wojcikiewicz, S., Adams, J., Carver-Thomas, D., Espinoza, D., Gardner, M., Hyler, M., Podolsky, A., & Cook-Harvey, C. (2022). *Deeper learning leadership: Preparing principals for 21st-century schools*. Learning Policy Institute. (Forthcoming).
- 152. Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M. E., & Gardner, M. (2017). *Effective teacher professional development*. Learning Policy Institute. https://doi.org/10.54300/122.311.
- 153. Reyes, M. R., Brackett, M. A., Rivers, S. E., Elbertson, N. A., & Salovey, P. (2012). The interaction effects of program training, dosage, and implementation quality on targeted student outcomes for the RULER approach to social and emotional learning. *School Psychology Review*, *41*(1), 82–99. https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2012.12087377.
- 154. Garet, M. S., Porter, A. C., Desimone, L., Birman, B. F., & Yoon, K. S. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, *38*(4), 915–945. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312038004915.
- 155. Cobb, P., & Jackson, K. (2011). Towards an empirically grounded theory of action for improving the quality of mathematics teaching at scale. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, *13*(1), 6–33.
- 156. Wechsler, M., Wojcikiewicz, S., Adams, J., Carver-Thomas, D., Espinoza, D., Gardner, M., Hyler, M., Podolsky, A., & Cook-Harvey, C. (2022). *Deeper learning leadership: Preparing principals for 21st-century schools*. Learning Policy Institute. (Forthcoming).
- 157. Barr, D. J., Boulay, B., Selman, R. L., McCormick, R., Lowenstein, E., Gamse, B., Fine, M., & Leonard, M. B. (2015). A randomized controlled trial of professional development for interdisciplinary civic education: Impacts on humanities teachers and their students. *Teachers College Record*, 117, 1–52.
- 158. Fishbein, D. H., Domitrovich, C., Williams, J., Gitukui, S., Guthrie, C., Shapiro, D., & Greenberg, M. (2016). Short-term intervention effects of the PATHS curriculum in young low-income children: Capitalizing on plasticity. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 37(6), 493–511. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10935-016-0452-5; Schonfeld, D. J., Adams, R. E., Fredstrom, B. K., Weissberg, R. P., Gilman, R., Voyce, C., Tomlin, R., & Speese-Linehan, D. (2015). Cluster-randomized trial demonstrating impact on academic achievement of elementary social-emotional learning. *School Psychology Quarterly*, *30*(3), 406–420. https://doi.apa.org/ doi/10.1037/spq0000099.
- 159. Cook, T. D., Murphy, R. F., & Hunt, H. D. (2000). Comer's School Development Program in Chicago: A theory-based evaluation. *American Educational Research Journal*, *37*(2), 535–597. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312037002535; Darling-Hammond, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Flook, L., Gardner, M., & Melnick, H. (2018). With the Whole Child in Mind: Insights and Lessons From the Comer School Development Program. ASCD.
- 160. Comer, J. P. (2005). Child and adolescent development: The critical missing focus in school reform. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *86*(10), 757–763. https://doi.org/10.1177/003172170508601008.
- Haynes, N. M., & Comer, J. P. (1996). Integrating schools, families, and communities through successful school reform: The school development program. *School Psychology Review*, 25(4), 501–506. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/02796015.1996.12085838.
- 162. Comer, J. P., & Emmons, C. (2006). The research program of the Yale Child Study Center school development program. *Journal of Negro Education*, 353–372.
- 163. Darling-Hammond, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Flook, L., Gardner, M., & Melnick, H. (2018). *With the Whole Child in Mind: Insights and Lessons From the Comer School Development Program.* ASCD.
- 164. American Federation of Teachers. (2017). 2017 Educator Quality of Work Life Survey. AFT and Badass Teachers Association.
- 165. Greenberg, M. T., Brown J. L., & Abenavoli, R. M. (2016). *Teacher stress and health effects on teachers, students, and schools*. Edna Bennett Pierce Prevention Research Center, Pennsylvania State University. https://www.rwjf.org/en/library/research/2016/07/teacher-stress-and-health.html.

- 166. See, for example: Hernández, L., Darling-Hammond, L., Bradley, K., & Adams, J. (2019). *Deeper learning networks: Taking student-centered learning and equity to scale*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/deeper-learning-networks-report.
- 167. Nichols-Barrer, I., & Haimson, J. (2013). *Impacts of five Expeditionary Learning middle schools on academic achievement*. Mathematica Policy Research. https://www.mathematica.org/publications/impacts-of-five-expeditionary-learning-middle-schools-on-academic-achievement.
- 168. EL Education. (n.d.). *Curriculum services*. https://eleducation.org/what-we-offer/curriculum-services/ curriculum-services-catalog.
- 169. See, for example: Ancess, J., Rogers, B., Duncan Grand, D., & Darling-Hammond, L. (2019). *Teaching the way students learn best: Lessons from Bronxdale High School*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/social-and-emotional-learning-case-study-bronxdale-report.
- 170. Academy for Education Development. (2010). ISA outcome evaluation final report.
- 171. IMPAQ. (2012). Institute for Student Achievement (ISA) outcome study final report. https://www. studentachievement.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/download_whole_school_reform_in_high_schools. pdf; Darling-Hammond, L., Flook, L., Cook-Harvey, C., Barron, B. J., & Osher, D. (2019). Implications for educational practice of the science of learning and development. *Applied Developmental Science*, 24(2), 425–469. https://doi.org/10.1080/10888691.2018.1537791.
- 172. Hernandez, L., Darling-Hammond, L., Bradley, K., & Adams, J. (2019). *Deeper learning networks: Taking student-centered learning and equity to scale*. Learning Policy Institute. https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/product/deeper-learning-networks-report.
- 173. Penuel, W. R., Fishman, B. J., Haugan Cheng, B., & Sabelli, N. (2011). Organizing research and development at the intersection of learning, implementation, and design. *Educational Researcher*, 40(7), 331–337. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X11421826.
- 174. Penuel, W. R., & Fishman, B. J. (2012). Large-scale science education intervention research we can use. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *49*(3), 281–304. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21001.
- 175. Cobb, P., & Jackson, K. (2011). Towards an empirically grounded theory of action for improving the quality of mathematics teaching at scale. *Mathematics Teacher Education and Development*, *13*(1), 6–33.
- 176. Leithwood, K., & Seashore-Louis, K. (2011). Linking Leadership to Student Learning. Wiley.
- 177. Honig, M. I. (2012). District central office leadership as teaching: How central office administrators support principals' development as instructional leaders. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, *48*(4), 733–774. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X12443258.

About the Authors

Linda Darling-Hammond is the Charles E. Ducommun Professor of Education Emeritus at Stanford University and founding president of the Learning Policy Institute. She is past president of the American Educational Research Association and author of more than 30 books and 600 other publications on teaching quality and educational equity, including *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning, Teaching as the Learning Profession*, and *Empowered Educators*. In 2006, she was named one of the nation's 10 most influential people affecting educational policy. She led the Obama education policy transition team in 2008 and the Biden education transition team in 2020.

Lisa Flook served as a Senior Researcher at the Learning Policy Institute (LPI), where she translated research on children's learning and development to inform practice and policy. Flook has conducted research in educational settings for over 20 years. She has also studied the effects of mindfulness in school settings at UCLA's Mindful Awareness Research Center and at the Center for Healthy Minds at the University of Wisconsin–Madison. Flook holds a Ph.D. and M.A. in Clinical Psychology from UCLA and a B.A. in Psychology with a minor in Education from University of California, Berkeley.

Abby Schachner is a Senior Researcher at LPI, where she co-leads the Early Childhood Learning team and is a member of the Deeper Learning team. Her work focuses on translating research on children's social, emotional, and academic development and the contexts that support such development to inform policy and practice. Schachner has more than 15 years of experience in conducting policy-relevant research on learning and development to better understand what works for whom and under what circumstances so that all children can succeed. She holds a Ph.D. in Human Development from the University of California, Davis, and a B.A. in Psychology from Georgetown University.

Steven Wojcikiewicz is Senior Researcher and Policy Advisor at LPI and is a member of LPI's Educator Quality team. He is a co-author of the book *Preparing Teachers for Deeper Learning* and of several case studies of educator preparation programs that are part of that project. His focus is on initiatives related to educator preparation research, practice, and policy, including the Educator Preparation Laboratory (EdPrepLab), an initiative of LPI and the Bank Street Graduate School of Education, focused on teacher and leader preparation for deeper learning and equity. He holds a Ph.D. in Educational Psychology and Educational Technology from Michigan State University, an M.A. in Teaching from the University of Portland, and a B.A. in History and Economics from the University of Notre Dame.



1530 Page Mill Road, Suite 250 Palo Alto, CA 94304 p: 650.332.9797

1100 17th Street, NW, Suite 200 Washington, DC 20036 p: 202.830.0079 @LPI_Learning | learningpolicyinstitute.org

The Learning Policy Institute conducts and communicates independent, high-quality research to improve education policy and practice. Working with policymakers, researchers, educators, community groups, and others, the Institute seeks to advance evidence-based policies that support empowering and equitable learning for each and every child. Nonprofit and nonpartisan, the Institute connects policymakers and stakeholders at the local, state, and federal levels with the evidence, ideas, and actions needed to strengthen the education system from preschool through college and career readiness.